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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH
ENTERPRISE MARKET (“"GEM”) OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss however
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Automotive Interior
Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (“GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
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Headquarter and Principal Place of Business
in Hong Kong
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6/F, Corporation Park,

11 On Lai Street, Shatin,

New Territories, Hong Kong

Principal Place of Business in the PRC

No. 28 Xinfeng Road, Xinfeng Industrial Park,
Fanggian Town New District,
Wauxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

Cayman Islands Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
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Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Principal Banker

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Wuxi Xi Shan Sub-branch

Ying Bin North Road

Dong Ting Town
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Wuxi City, the PRC

Compliance Adviser
Tanrich Capital Limited

Company Website

www.joystar.com.hk
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of China
Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
I am pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2012.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2012.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
nonwoven fabric products used in automotive interior decoration
parts. The Group mainly manufactures its products with single
layer or multiple layers of nonwoven fabric in accordance with
specific requirements and standards of different customers. Most
of the Group’s customers are primary manufacturers and suppliers
of automotive parts in the PRC. The majority of the Group’s
products are further processed by these customers in order to
make different automotive parts such as floor, head lining, seat
cover, parcel tray, trunk, luggage-side trim, hubcap and car-mat,
which are of different characteristics and are to be applied for
different usages in passenger vehicles.

According to the statistics released from China Association of
Automobile Manufacturers (“CAAM"), the production and sales
of passenger vehicles were approximately 15,523,000 units
and 15,495,000 units respectively during 2012, representing
an increase of approximately 7.2% and 7.0%. These favorable
growth in passenger vehicles market resulted in a stable demand
for automotive interior decoration materials of the Group during
2012.

However, as a result of various regulations and standards imposed
upon the automotive industry, such as environmental protection
and safety requirements, some of the Group’s major customers
changed its product specification requirements during the year. To
enhance our competitiveness, the Company had to procure higher
grade of raw materials to maintain relationship with customers,
causing an increase in cost of raw materials. To overcome the
increased cost of production in long-term, the Group deployed
more resources to research and development in order to improve
production efficiency and reduce the consumption of the raw
materials. During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group
incurred a cost of approximately RMB6.5 million for the research
and development. Some of outcomes of research and development
are expected to achieve an effect of cost saving. For example,
the Group has developed fire resistant glue for the production
of nonwoven fabric and reduced the total cost of glue and
fire resistant materials if purchased separately. As most of the
outcomes of research and development are achieved during late
2012, the cost saving effect cannot be reflected in the result
during the year ended 31 December 2012.
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Upgrading of production process

On 23 March 2012, the Group entered into a technical service
agreement with Donghua University, pursuant to which the
university will provide technical services to help the Group on
upgrading its existing manufacturing technology and process and
to assist the Group in the research and development of, among
others, recyclable, biodegradable and functional nonwoven fabric
products together with the corresponding processing technology.

Achievements on research and development

With the Group’s effort in research and development, various
types of new products and technologies have been developed over
the past years. During 2012, the Group successfully registered
7 utility model patents which have a symbolic meaning of
recognition of the Group’s effort in research and development
and have facilitated and guaranteed the Group’s production
quality. The Group’s effort in research and development was
further acknowledged when the Group obtained the Certificate of
Innovative and High-end Technology Enterprise in November 2012.

Formation of joint venture company

On 17 October 2012, the Group entered into a joint venture
agreement with a sizeable Korean company, pursuant to which
a joint venture company was established to engage in the
production and sale of polyester fibers used in automobiles in the
PRC. As the Group requires polyester fibers for the production of
nonwoven fabric. The Group expected that the joint venture will
allow the Group to secure raw materials supply and accelerate the
production expansion plan of the Group horizontally.

Diversification of new business

It is the Group’s objective to pursue its existing business and at the
same time, to actively seek opportunities to diversify its existing
principal business in order to reduce business risk. Recently, rubber
related products have been broadly used for automotive parts,
such as tines and seal circle. During the last quarter of 2012, the
Group allocated its resource on rubber trading which brought
turnover of approximately RMB6.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2012.

Important events after the year end date

In order to further expand the Group’s market influence in the
nonwoven products used in automobiles in the PRC, on 11 March
2013, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement with
a machinery manufacturer, pursuant to which a joint venture
company was established to engage in the production and sale of
environmental-friendly interior decoration materials and filtering
materials for using in automobiles in the PRC.

On 26 March 2013, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement pursuant to which the Group acquired the entire
business of trading of synthetic rubber at a consideration of
HK$28 million for the purpose of strengthening the future income
stream of the Group’s existing business of rubber trading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBNNRED (A

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2012 and
2011 was illustrated as follows:

Bt %5 10
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Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—HLEFE

2012 2011
—E—_F —F——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT ARBT T

Nonwoven fabric for using in automobiles R /REmES M
Sale of automotive floor carpets AEMHMIHE 90,234 96,771
Sale of other automotive parts HihAEREGMHEE 69,999 56,121
Nonwoven fabric for using in infrastructure RARERENESTN — 3,584
Sales of rubber BBREE 6,673 —
166,906 156,476

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group's revenue
increased to approximately RMB166.9 million, compared to
approximately RMB156.5 million in 2011, representing an increase
of approximately 6.7%. The increase in the Group’s revenue was
mainly attributable to the increase in demand of the Group's
products under the stable growth of production and sales of
passenger vehicles in the PRC. Furthermore, as most of the Group's
customers supplied their products to Korean brand automotive
manufacturers, the continuous growth in sales of Korean brand
passenger vehicles also contributed to a growth of business of the
Group. In addition, the Group commenced the business of sales of
rubber during the last quarter of 2012 and recorded an turnover
of approximately RMB6.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2012.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately
RMB13.6 million from approximately RMB42.0 million in 2011 to
approximately RMB28.4 million in 2012. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the increase in cost of raw materials and recognized
of research and development expenditure of approximately RMB6.5
million. To enhance quality of the product to fulfil the changing
requirements, the Group acquired higher grade of materials
and therefore increased its overall materials costs during 2012.
Furthermore, the Group realized the importance of research and
development on new products and the manufacturing process will
enhance the sustainability of the Group’s business. During 2012,
the Group deployed more resources to research and development
and therefore recorded an increase in cost of sales and a decrease
in gross profit of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBNNRED (A

Other income

The Group’s other income increased by approximately RMB3.8
million from approximately RMB1.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2011 to approximately RMB4.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2012. The substantial increase was mainly
due to an increase in technical support income of RMBO0.8 million
and gain on held-for-trading investments during the year.

Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution costs decreased by approximately
RMBO0.4 million from approximately RMB7.7 million in the year
ended 31 December 2011 to RMB7.3 million in the year ended 31
December 2012. The decrease was mainly due to the reduction of
transportation costs of the Group.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately RMBO.5
million from approximately RMB11.3 million in the year ended
31 December 2011 to approximately RMB11.8 million in the year
ended 31 December 2012. The increase was principally attributable
to the increase in the Group’s professional fee in relation to
compliance of the Group’s corporate governance issue and the
payment of technicial services expense to Donghua University to
upgrade the manufacturing process of the Group.

Finance costs

The finance costs increased by approximately RMBO0.2 million from
approximately RMB1.5 million in the year ended 31 December
2011 to approximately RMB1.7 million in the year ended 31
December 2012. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
interest expense during the year.

Profit attributable to the owners of the
Company

The profit attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately RMB10.8 million for the year of 2012, compared
with approximately RMB18.9 million for the corresponding year of
2011. The decrease was mainly due to a decrease in profit margin
of the Group’s nonwoven business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEREREEBENNRED N (&)

OUTLOOK

The Group entered into the master purchasing agreements with
some major customers that intending to increase the purchasing
guantities in 2013. In addition, the Group’s committed efforts
in research and development in the use of new materials and
improvement of production technologies have yielded successful
results in late 2012. Such efforts will also be carried on in the
manufacturing process of the Group in 2013 and is expected to
reduce the future production costs.

On the other hand, according to the statistics released from
CAAM, although the growth of total number of automobile
production and sales was slowing down, it still expects the sales
of passenger vehicles in the PRC will be increased by 7% in 2013.

Therefore, the Board expects the prospect of the Group is still
promising. To keep a steady pace of development, the Group will
continuously deploy its resources on:

1) upgrading the production lines in order to improve the
production efficiency;

2) installing new machineries to suit the customers’ varying
requirements and demands on high-end products;

3)  conducting research and development to keep up with
the latest technological trends in relation to product
specifications;

4)  accelerating the launch of new products to capture extra
market share and expand the market coverage in the PRC;
and

5)  strengthening the quality control systems to retain customer
loyalty and reinforce the Group’s reputation in the nonwoven
fabric industry in the PRC.

Regarding the new business, the Group considered that supported
by robust economic growth, the PRC's markert is still a major
driver for rubber trading of the Group. Trading of rubber will
yield stable return with a lower risk level. Therefore, the Group
is dedicating to diversify further into the business of trading of
rubber in order to bring greater returns to the shareholders of the
Company in long term.

Going forward, with a view to achieving better return and
enhancing the expansion of the Group, the Group will look for
potential investment opportunities to diversify its business scope.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBNNRED (A

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Current assets MBNEE
Current liabilities mEEE
Current ratio VIEIE RS

The current ratio of the Group at 31 December 2012 was 3.72
times as compared to that of 2.56 times at 31 December 2011. It
was mainly resulted from the net proceeds raised from the issue of
new shares on 14 May 2012 and 12 September 2012 respectively
as well as the growth of the Group’s business.

At 31 December 2012, the Group’s gearing ratio (represented
by totals of borrowings and finance lease payable divided by
summation of total bank borrowings and finance lease payable
and equity) amounted to approximately 13.6% (2011: 18.3%).

The Group generally financed its operations by internal cash
resources and bank financing. On 14 May 2012 and 12 September
2012, 120,000,000 new shares and 720,000,000 new shares
of the Company were respectively issued and allotted by way
of open offers. The total net proceeds of the open offers was
approximately RMB64.7 million and the Board intends to apply
the proceeds for potential acquisition activities as identified by
the Group from time to time and/or as the working capital of the
Group.

At 31 December 2012, cash and bank balances of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB82.1 million (2011: RMB16.4
million), and approximately RMB71.6 million (2011: RMB6.0
million) of which are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United
States dollars and Euro. Taking into account the Group’s cash
reserves and recurring cash flows from its operations, the Group’s
financial position is stable and healthy.
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2012 2011
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ITEREREEBNWED (A

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES XXKEZSHEMEKERZLLE
WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in ZAQARIBHA-Z-—ZFAA -+ HHNHEKERE
the Company’s prospectus dated 21 September 2010 (the ([BRER|)MENEKECEAEERE —F

“Prospectus”) with the Group’s actual business progress for the ——F+_-_A=Z+—HBIIFENEBREFTER 2L
year ended 31 December 2012 is set out below: BOWEIAT
Business objectives as stated in the Actual business progress
Prospectus
BRERFAXBEE BEREBER
1. Expansion of production capacity
T ERE
— Upgrading two existing The Group completed upgrading the existing production lines.
production lines REBETHREBEERLZFAR -
— RARGKREEER
— Installing new equipment for The Group installed new PE coating production line for perfection of
perfection of production existing production lines.
— LERAREBEATELE REEDLZENREUATEREEER -

2. Acquisition of land and construction
of new factory premises
BE T M EHEHRE

Constructing factory premises The Group originally intended to acquire a land situated in Xibeiyuan
B District of the Xishan Economic Development Zone of Jiangsu Province,

the PRC for the construction of new factory premises. As inadequate
supporting infrastructure to the said land, the Group could not reach a
proposal on the terms of acquiring land with the Management Committee
of Xibeiyuan District of the Xishan Economic Development Zone of
Jiangsu Province. The Group also attempted to explore another land
located around the Group’s existing factory premises in Fongian Town
with favorable offer for the construction of new factory premises but no
suitable land was identified. The Group will continue to identify suitable
land with favorable offer for the construction of factory premises.

AR B Rt B WS — R A P BT &R & 85 1L &8 7 3 & 50 B (& 2 £ 3 A B
BIRE - AR Bl XIEEEADR - AREEAREE £t 2 (R
Heap LKA BERERGIIEREEZEENER - AEETERDE Ea#
IEARSERDATAIR G R E B RGBSR 2 T BGEHEE - DAY EeR & E
2T o REEKERY & EBEBRGRG 26 8Lt ARZRE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBNNRED (A

Business objectives as stated in the
Prospectus

ERERFAEZER

3. Development of new products

A B 2

Research and development
W Ak

— Noise-absorbing and heat-
insulating nonwoven fabric;

— RS RRAESD

— Nonwoven fabric for filtering
system of high-speed trains;
and

— ARPBHBRBAGHES - R

— Material for interior decoration of
cruising boats; non-flammable
smooth seat pad; and Civil-
work fabric

— AREREAHIE PR
PimILss : R+ TH

Actual business progress

The Group has successfully developed noise-absorbing and heat-insulating
nonwoven fabric and has distributed the products in the second half of
2010.

REBEXKDRABRRERBAESM  WER_ZE—ZF TFESHLEM °

The Group is conducted research and development in smooth and filtering
materials used in high-speed trains with universities in the PRC. After
considering the potential market demands and respective development
costs, the Group deferred to develop the materials.
REFREFRESZARASETARDEANG R R BRBOMOHE - KEFE
EmSERRSENRERTNE  RNEERELEEREBBYE

The Group conducted research on the textures of the material for interior
decoration of cruising boats, non-flammable smooth seat pad and Civil-
work fabric. In addition, the Group performed market research on the
demand of the material for interior decoration of cruising boats, non-
flammable smooth seat pad and Civil-work fabric. After considering the
potential market demands and respective development costs, the Group
deferred to develop these products.

AREE AR ER AR - BT A RBIRIAL K + T &g T
SN - AEE R AR BN AR - BT AR RILE R + THETHS
TR - KEREBETISHRKLEBOFERAR - AEBRE EERHE

A [=]
ZEEM

The Group also conducted research and development on other new
nonwoven fabric products.

AEBTBETHALAEEMFTENMER °
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBNNRED (A

USE OF PROCEEDS

On 29 September 2010, shares of the Company were listed on
the Stock Exchange by way of placing. The net proceeds from the
placing was approximately HK$30.6 million, which was different
from the estimated net proceeds of approximately HK$34.4 million
(estimated on the assumption that the placing price would be
the mid-point of the stated range as stated in the Prospectus).
The Group originally intends to adjust the use of proceeds in
the same manner and in the same proportion as shown in the
Prospectus. On 22 November 2011, the Board resolved to change
the proposed use of net proceeds originally allocated for the
acquisition of land and construction of new factory premises to
the expansion of production capacity which mainly involved in the
acquisition of additional plants and equipment and the research
and development of new products, as follows:

Expansion of production capacity BWrRER
Acquisition of land and construction of new
factory premises

Development of new products P Em

FrERERAR

RZFE-ZFAA-TNAR  ARRRMAEET
ARBERFTE™ - REMSRIBFRN /30688
BT BARNRERT A SERIEFRN344BEET
(B REEERABRERMEAHBE 2 H
B) - REBFRBRERMRZAER TR
BSRERR RT—F+—A=+=H"
EESRABMEREFERREBEEBE LR
B 52 ¥ S PR i 2R AR E 2 A B B Rk
AT E R R P E M

Adjusted use of
proceeds in the

Wi £ 1 % B 52 3 R o

same manner Revised

and proportion allocation of

as stated in use of

the Prospectus proceeds
BREBRRER

FimRzEEE R KRBT =2

RLBIRE 2 FRi§RRIAE

FRERIEAR ABROE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHER FHER

8,733 24,801

19,401 —

2,467 5,800

30,601 30,601

FEASERNMEERRAT
—E-—FEH



14

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEREREEBENNRED N (&)

During the period from 13 September 2010, being the latest
practicable date prior to issue of the Prospectus to 31 December
2012, the Group has applied the net proceeds as follows:

EITERE
) 33 2

Expansion of production capacity
Development of new products

The balance of the unused proceeds was placed as bank deposits
as at 31 December 2012 and temporarily used as general working
capital in order to increase the efficiency of the use of proceeds.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Except 120,000,000 shares and 720,000,000 shares of the
Company were issued and allotted by way of open offers on 14
May 2012 and 12 September 2012 respectively, there has been
no material change in the capital structure of the Group since 31
December 2011.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Majority of the assets and liabilities of the Group were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. At 31 December

2012, the Group had no significant exposure under foreign
exchange contracts, interest, currency swaps or other financial
derivatives.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2012, there was no significant investment held by
the Group (2011: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2012, there was no material
acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by
the Group.

B-Z-ZFNAAT=ZR(ATZERERERZANOREZ
ERATRAE-T——F+-_A=+—BHH
W AEECKERIEFEREN T AR

Revised

allocation of Actual use of
use of proceeds proceeds

RIERT 2 FRERIE
FBREAZDE BB AR
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
24,801 13,781
5,800 5,800
30,601 19,581
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITRBEREEBNNRED (A

PLEDGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2012, the Group secured its bank loans by
buildings with a carrying amounts of approximately RMB7.5
million and prepaid land lease payments with a carrying amounts
of approximately RMB3.0 million respectively.

At 31 December 2011, the Group secured its bank loans by
buildings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB7.8
million, prepaid land lease payments with carrying amounts of
approximately RMB3.1 million and trade receivables with carrying
amounts of approximately RMB7.4 million respectively.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At 31 December 2012, the Group employed a total of 184
employees (2011: 208). The emolument policy of the employees
of the Group was set up by the Board on the basis of their
experience, qualifications and competence. Other employees’
benefits include contributions to statutory mandatory provident
funds, and social insurance together with housing provident funds
to its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

A remuneration committee was set up for, inter alia, reviewing
the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all directors and
senior management of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, business
partners and investors for their support and trust towards the
Group. Further, | would like to express my sincere thanks to our
Directors and employees for their dedications and contributions to
the Group.

By order of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013

BEHEE
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, aged 50, is the Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and one of the founders of the
Group. He was appointed as an executive Director on 12 April
2010. He has over 11 years of experience in the nonwoven textile
industry. He is responsible for formulating the Group’s corporate
strategy, overseeing its production operations and the overall
steering of the Group’s strategic development.

Mr. Zhuang graduated from Xiamen Fisheries College in 1981
and was approved as a qualified engineer by the Intermediate
Level Adjudication Committee of Xiamen City Marine Engineering
Department in 1990. From 1997 to 2001, Mr. Zhuang was the
director and the general manager of Xiamen Marine Industries
(Group) Co., Limited, a PRC incorporated company and was
previously listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhuang is
the spouse of Ms. Ruan Bixia, an executive Director.

Mr. Pak Ping, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director
on 12 April 2010. Mr. Pak has over 17 years of experience in the
nonwoven material and carpet industry. He is primarily responsible
for coordinating the marketing activities and formulating product
development strategies for the Group.

With extensive experience and profound knowledge on the
nonwoven product industry, Mr. Pak co-founded the Group with
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin in 2003.

Ms. Ruan Bixia, aged 48, was appointed as an executive
Director on 12 April 2010. She has over 10 years of experience
in the nonwoven textile industry. She is primarily responsible
for supervising the delivery of customer service and the Group's
expansion within the PRC.

Ms. Ruan graduated from Fujian Chemical Industry School in July
1989. Ms. Ruan is the spouse of Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, an executive
Director.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
Director and company secretary on 30 June 2011. He graduated
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Master of Corporate
Governance Degree and a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of both the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries.

HITES
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENEAREEENBEER (&)

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong was the financial controller
and company secretary of a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, namely Ching Hing (Holdings) Limited
(currently known as China Household Holdings Limited) (Stock
Code: 692), from September 2006 to October 2010. He has
extensive experience in accounting and corporate compliance.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Tang Yanfei, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 April 2010. Dr. Tang graduated
from Wuhan University of Technology with a bachelor’'s degree in
engineering in 1984. He further obtained from Wuhan University a
master’'s degree and a doctor’s degree in Economics respectively in
1987 and 1997.

Dr. Tang was appointed as the president assistant and the
manager of the development department of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese Town Holding Company (Stock Code: 000069), a PRC
incorporated company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
in 1998. From 2003 to 2004, he took office as the president
assistant and the general manager of the investment management
department of China Oceanwide Holdings Group, a PRC
incorporated company and the holding company of Oceanwide
Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 000046), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Dr. Tang is currently a
professor and the dean of the Faulty of Business Administration of
Haikou College of Economics.

Mr. Mak Wai Ho, aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 9 September 2011. He was graduated
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with
a Bachelor degree in Business Administration in Finance. He
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a practising member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a
practising certified public accountant and has more than 16 years
of experience in finance, accounting and auditing.

Mr. Mak was the company secretary and financial controller of
Kong Sun Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 295), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from September 2005
to November 2009.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENEAREEENBEER (&)

Mr. Feng Xueben, aged 65, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 April 2010. Mr. Feng was approved
as a qualified engineer specialising in textile machinery design by
the Textile Industry Department of the People’ s Republic of China
in 1989. Since 2003, Mr. Feng has been the chief engineer of
Wuxi Jiayuan Nonwovens Technology Research Institute.

Mr. Feng was an independent director of Fujian Nanfang Textile
Co., Ltd (Stock Code: 600483), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, from June 2002 to May 2008. He was the deputy
director of Nonwoven Textile Machinery Professional Committee
of China Textile Machinery Association from 2007 to 2009. Since
February 2010, Mr. Feng has also been an independent non-
executive director of Costin New Materials Group Limited (Stock
Code: 2228), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wang Haiying, aged 43, has been the deputy general
manager of Joystar (Wuxi) Automotive Interior Decoration Co., Ltd.
("Joystar Wuxi”) since 2007 and is responsible for overseeing the
production process and quality control of the Group.

Ms. Wang graduated from Wuhan Institute of Textile Engineering
(currently known as Wuhan Textile University) in 1994, specialising
in textile engineering. She has extensive experience in the
industrial use textile industry and joined the Group as the head of
quality control department of Joystar Wuxi in 2004.

Mr. Han Zhiqing, aged 48, has been the deputy general manager
of Joystar Wuxi since 2004 and is responsible for coordinating the
technological development and mechanical support for the Group.

Mr. Han graduated from Shanghai Wool and Jute Textile Company
Workers’ University in 1982, specialising in woolen textile. Mr.
Han has over 10 years of extensive experience in the industrial use
textile industry.

Ms. Wu Danping, aged 38, is the manager of the accounting
department of Joystar Wuxi. Ms. Wu is responsible for the
financial reporting and the management of the accounting and
finance department of Joystar Wuxi.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENEAREEENBEER (&)

Ms. Wu obtained the Certificate of Accounting Professional
issued by the Jiangsu Province Department of Finance and the
Qualification Certificate of Specialty and Technology with specialty
in accountancy conferred by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in
1997 and 2006 respectively.

In 2008, Ms. Wu completed an online diploma programme in
accountancy from China Agricultural University. She has 16 years
of experience in financial accounting and reporting.

Mr. Wu Ganghua, aged 42, is the manager of the sales and
marketing department of Joystar Wuxi. He is responsible for the
sales and marketing operation of Joystar Wuxi.

In 1990, Mr. Wu graduated from Jiangsu Province Wuxi City
College of Mechanical Manufacturing (currently known as Wuxi
Institute of Technology). He was qualified as an assistant engineer
in mechanical manufacturing by Wuxi City Professional Title
Reform Committee in 1996. Mr. Wu further obtained a graduation
certificate from Nanjing Normal University in 1999. Mr. Wu joined
Joystar Wuxi in 2004.
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Pursuant to the Rule 18.44 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
(the "GEM Listing Rules”), the Board is pleased to present the
corporate governance report for the year ended 31 December
2012. This report highlights the key corporate governance
practices of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to protect the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on principles and code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“Code”) in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. Except for the deviation from Code provision A.2.1
and A.6.7, the Company has complied with the former Code on
Corporate Governance Practices during the period from 1 January
2012 to 31 March 2012 and the Code for the period from 1 April
2012 to 31 December 2012.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Such
deviation from Code provision A.2.1 is deemed appropriate as it is
considered to be more efficient to have one single person as the
Chairman of the Company as well as to discharge the executive
functions of a chief executive officer, and it provides the Group
with strong and consistent leadership in the development and
execution of long term business strategies. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises highly experienced
individuals. There are three independent non-executive Directors
on the Board. All of them possess adequate independence and
therefore the Board considers the Company has achieved balance
and provided sufficient protection of its interests.

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors should attend general meetings of the Company.
Owing to overseas engagements, two independent non-executive
Directors, Dr. Tang Yanfei and Mr. Feng Xueben, were unable
to attend the general meetings of the Company held on 31 May
2012 and 10 August 2012.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
DEEARE )

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry with all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied
with the code of conduct and the required standard of dealings
concerning securities transactions by the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2012.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At 31 December 2012, the Board comprises four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (Chairman)*
Mr. Pak Ping

Ms. Ruan Bixia*

Mr. Wong Ho Yin

* Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the spouse of Ms. Ruan Bixia

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho
Dr. Tang Yanfei
Mr. Feng Xueben

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of the Group. The biographical details of the Directors
and the relationship among the members of the Board are set
out in the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 16 to 19 of this report.

Generally, the responsibilities of the Board include:
o Formulation of overall strategic development of the Group;

o Monitoring the financial performance and internal control of
the Group’s business operations;

o Material acquisitions, investments, disposal of assets or any
significant capital expenditure;

o Appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members
and auditors;
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o Remuneration of Directors;

o Communications with key stakeholders;

o Recommendation and declaration of any interim and final
dividends

Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. The Board
delegates day-to-day activities to the management with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the business.
The non-executive Directors serve the relevant function of bringing
independent judgment on the development, performance and risk
management of the Group through their contributions in board
meetings. They are also serving on remuneration committee,
nomination committee and audit committee.

During the year, the Board complies at all times with the
requirement of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

The Board normally has four regular meetings a year at quarterly
interval and meets as and when required to discuss the overall
business, development strategy, operations and financial reporting
of the Company. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association. During the year
ended 31 December 2012, eight Board meetings and two general
meeting were held. The following table shows the attendance of
individual Directors at the meetings held during the year:

No. of Attendance

General Board
Members meetings meetings
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 1/2 8/8
Mr. Pak Ping 2/2 8/8
Ms. Ruan Bixia 0/2 7/8
Mr. Wong Ho Yin 2/2 8/8
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho 2/2 7/8
Dr. Tang Yanfei 0/2 6/8
Mr. Feng Xueben 0/2 4/8

s EEME:
o  HEIDRIBANER:

o EEEEIREM I REKE

HTEFRAKEARERUTESEMRMZR
B - EEERAEEHEKTERERE - EF &M
TEAETRAEBENERR - FNTEFERLEE
FREF BUUAKENEE RAKRRERE
ER B A BB - WENRFMNEES
REZBEEMNELZEEKE °

RER BEFEHAUBTARR TR ZHER
o RERLZRBUFATEERETEL A
BREBEEXRER  SBAGTHEBEHHELN
B - ARFRIERIFAIZER ST AR RIS 5.00 RZE
BEBUFNTEEREBIMEH 2 FEER - K
RARA ERBUIIFATETHBELAL -

ExgRTeFARAmRlE  8FRT R K
REREREE  UWARRNBRERE &R
REE  EBLUBRREE - EFARAREBA
NAABERBRAMARF  EMEFBATAHE
EH o RBE_Z——_F+_A=1t—HLFE"
BOTN\REEZEEEMMARRAE - TR
ERNEEFALEERSR BN

IR E

EEg
RE BRAE =f ]
HiTEE
RS 1/2 8/8
SR 2/2 8/8
ftEEZ L 0/2 7/8
BIERGE 2/2 8/8
BUINTEE
BERLE 2/2 7/8
m R IEB L 0/2 6/8
REBARSE 0/2 4/8

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2012



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
DEEARE )

The Directors will receive details of agenda and minutes of
committee meetings in advance of and after each Board meeting
respectively. The company secretary will distribute relevant
documents to the Directors in a timely manner to enable the
Directors to make informed decisions on matters to be raised at
the Board meetings. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the company secretary who is responsible for ensuring
the procedures of the Board meetings are complied with, and in
consultation with the compliance officer of the Company, advising
the Board on compliance matters.

In addition, the Company has maintained a procedure for the
Directors to seek independent professional advice, in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their
duties to the Company. Moreover, the company secretary
prepares minutes of the Board meetings and keeps records of
matters discussed and decisions resolved at all Board meetings.
The company secretary also keeps the minutes of the Board
meetings, which are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Such deviation from Code provision A.2.1 is
deemed appropriate as it is considered to be more efficient to
have one single person as the Chairman of the Company as
well as to discharge the executive functions of a chief executive
officer, and it provides the Group with strong and consistent
leadership in the development and execution of long term business
strategies. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board
which comprises highly experienced individuals. There are three
independent non-executive Directors on the Board. All of them
possess adequate independence and therefore the Board considers
the Company has achieved balance and provided sufficient
protection of its interests.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

According to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of
the Directors are required to retire from office at each annual
general meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once in every three years. A Director
appointed since the most recent annual general meeting shall hold
office only until the next annual general meeting and shall then be
eligible for re-election. The independent non-executive Directors
were appointed at specific terms for one year.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code provision A.6.5, which has come into effect
from 1 April 2012, all Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. All the Directors also understand
the importance of continuous professional development and are
committed to participate any suitable training or read relevant
materials in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company has received from each Director a confirmation
of their participation in continuous professional development by
the following means:

Members Types of training

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin A, B, C
Mr. Pak Ping C
Ms. Ruan Bixia A
Mr. Wong Ho Yin A, C

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho B, C
Dr. Tang Yanfei A, B, C
Mr. Feng Xueben B, C
Note:

A: attending training courses or seminars

B: giving talks at seminars, conferences or forums

C: reading newspapers, journals and relevant materials

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee on 13
September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management, reviewing
the terms of remuneration packages, determining the award of
bonuses and considering the grant of options under the share
option scheme of the Company. The remuneration committee
comprises one executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhuang Yuejin and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho
(chairman of the remuneration committee) and Dr. Tang Yanfei.
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During the year, one meeting was held by the remuneration
committee to discuss, among other things, the remuneration policy
of the Group and determine the remuneration of the Directors.
The following table shows the attendance of individual members
at the meetings held during the year:

Members No. of Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 171

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho 171
Dr. Tang Yanfei 0/1

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee on 13
September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the nomination committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
making recommendations to the Board regarding candidates
to fill vacancies on the Board, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors. The nomination committee
comprises one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhuang Yuejin
(chairman of the nomination committee), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho and Mr. Feng
Xueben.

During the year, one meeting was held by the nomination
committee to, among other things, review the structure, size and
composition of the board and assess the independence of each
of the independent non-executive Directors. The following table
shows the attendance of individual members at the meeting held
during the year:

Members No. of Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 11

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho 11
Mr. Feng Xueben 0/1
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee on 13 September
2010 in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Written terms of reference in compliance with Code
provision C.3.3 have been adopted. The primary duties of the
audit committee are, among other things, to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control system of the
Group. The audit committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho (chairman of the
audit committee), Dr. Tang Yanfei and Mr. Feng Xueben.

During the year, four meetings were held by the audit committee,
two of which was with the attendance of external auditors. The
following table shows the attendance of individual members at the
meetings held during the year:

Members No. of Attendance

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho 4/4
Dr. Tang Yanfei 4/4
Mr. Feng Xueben 4/4

During the year, the audit committee, among other things,
reviewed the quarterly, interim and annual reports as well as
result announcements before submission to the Board. The audit
committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance
with accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules and the legal
requirements in review of the Company’s quarterly, interim
and annual reports as well as result announcements. The audit
committee also reviewed the Company’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems and make recommendation
to the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the Code provision D.3.1.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, continuous professional development of Directors,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the GEM Listing Rules,
and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The audit committee is responsible for considering the
appointment of the external auditors and also reviews any non-
audit functions performed by the external auditors for the Group,
including whether such non-audit functions could lead to any
potential material adverse effect on the Group. During the year,
the auditors performed the work of statutory work of statutory
audit for the year of 2012 and were also involved in non-audit
assignment of two open offers in May and September 2012. For
the year ended 31 December 2012, the remuneration payable and
paid to the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng were as follows:

B RT
FEBIZ AR

Audit services
Non-audit services

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. In March 2012, the practice of HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng was reorganised as HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited. The Audit Committee has recommended to the
Board that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for
appointment as the auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an adequate
and effective internal control system to safeguard the Company’s
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, and to protect the
interests of shareholders of the Company.

The audit committee assumes the overall responsibility for
reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal
control system.

During the year, the Board has discussed and reviewed the
relevant proposals made by senior management in order to
ensure an adequate and effective system of internal control. The
Board, through the audit committee, has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2012, which
covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls functions.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company assists the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
also responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
As an employee of the Company, Mr. Wong Ho Yin, the company
secretary of the Company, has undertaken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training to update his skills and knowledge
in 2012.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedure for nominating a new Director

Pursuant to Article 83(2) of the articles and association of
the Company (the "Articles”), subject to the Articles and the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company may by
ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing
Board.

Procedure for convening an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholder
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition and such
meeting shall be held within 2 months from the date of deposit of
the requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Procedure for sending enquires to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect of
their rights to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include
the publication of annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements, circulars and constitutional documents, the
Company’s website at www.joystar.com.hk and meetings with
investors and analysts.

The Company encourages all shareholders to attend the annual
general meetings to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals. It provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and its shareholders. The chairman of the
meeting explains the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and
then answers any questions from shareholders. The poll results
are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board does not aware of any changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2012, which give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Group. The auditors of the Company is responsible to form
an independent opinion based on the audit, on the financial
statements prepared by the Directors and report the opinion solely
to the shareholders of the Company.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2012 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
trading of nonwoven fabric products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and infrastructure and trading of rubber.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s results for the Year are set out in the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 41 and 42.

The state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31
December 2012 are set out in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the statement of financial position on pages
43 to 45 respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of financial results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Summary of
Financial Information” on page 120 in this report.

RESERVES

The movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and the consolidated statement of changes in equity. The
movements in the reserves of the Company during the Year are
set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2012, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution to owners of the Company comprising share premium
account amounted to approximately RMB4,215,000 (2011:
RMB10,328,000).
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DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 64.8% (2011: 64.4%)
of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
accounted for approximately 22.3% (2011: 19.4%) of total sales.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 55.7% (2011: 67.1%) of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 14.5% (2011: 22.8%) of total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during
the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin
Mr. Pak Ping

Ms. Ruan Bixia
Mr. Wong Ho Yin

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Mak Wai Ho
Dr. Tang Yanfei
Mr. Feng Xueben

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of association,
Ms. Ruan Bixia, Mr. Wong Ho Yin and Dr. Tang Yanfei shall retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All the
retiring Directors are eligible for re-elections.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 16 to 19 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors, including those proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service
agreement which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Board on the basis of their experience, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are reviewed
by the remuneration committee of the Company and approved
by the Board, having regard to the relevant Director’s experience,
responsibility, workload and the time devoted to the Group; the
Company’s operating results and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 13 September 2010 to which the Directors and eligible
employees, among others are entitled to participate in. The
Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. Details of the Scheme are
set out in paragraph “Share Option Scheme” below.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest

paid individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 14 and 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEEHRE A

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as known to the Directors, at 31 December 2012, the
interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and/or short positions of which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO)
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were
as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name Capacity and nature of interest
i SORERNME

Directors:

BE

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin Beneficial owner

R E EnEEA

Ms. Ruan Bixia* Interest of spouse

PrEEL Lt * [iRAE s e

Mr. Pak Ping Beneficial owner

SISFSekE EnEAA

* Ms. Ruan Bixia is the spouse of Mr. Zhuang Yuejin and is deemed to be

interested in all shares held by Mr. Zhuang Yuejin under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2012, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or of any other body corporate
granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to
acquire such rights in the Company or any body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2012, so far as known to the Directors, the
persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the
Company), who had, or was deemed to have interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be
disclosed to the Company in accordance with the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
recorded in the register maintained by the Company, pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name

] SO RERNMEE

Avant Capital Management Beneficial owner
(HK) Limited
DRIREEE(FH)ERAA
Longlife Group Holdings Limited
BANEEEERER QA

BEamfEAA

RRAEH A B R *

. According to the Corporate Substantial Shareholder Notice filed by
Longlife Group Holdings Limited on 7 September 2012, Longlife Group
Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the said shares of the
Company as it has 100% control in Splendid Rich Holdings Limited which
was reported to be interested in such shares.

Capacity and nature of interest

Interest in a controlled corporation*
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%R D15 336 AL T B R BERBRBIE
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REQNTRGBZHR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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Save as disclosed above and under the section “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interest in Securities, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” on page 33 of this report, at 31 December 2012, the
Directors of the Company were not aware of any persons who
had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company in accordance with the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO; or be recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTOR’S
INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of
the Directors, the controlling shareholder and their respective
associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) that compete
or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group during the year.

INTEREST IN COMPETING

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’'s listed securities during
the year.

INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

At 31 December 2012, except for the compliance adviser’s
agreement and two underwriting agreements entered into
between the Company and Tanrich Capital Limited, the Company’s
compliance adviser, on 19 August 2011, 23 March 2012 and 5 July
2012 respectively, neither the Company’s compliance adviser nor
its directors, employees or associates had any interest in the share
capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including
options or rights to subscribe for such securities) as notified by the
Company's compliance adviser.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interest in Securities, Underlying Shares and Debentures” on page
33 of this report, at no time during the year was the Company,
or its subsidiaries, or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable date prior to issue of this report, the Company has
maintained the sufficient public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no transactions
with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2012
are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set
out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme on 13 September 2010 which
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the effective
date of the Scheme and will expire on 29 September 2020.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion grant
options to (i) any employee of any member of the Group or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest
(the “Invested Entity”); (ii) any executive and non-executive
Directors of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iii)
any supplier and customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (iv) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued or proposed to be issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; or (vi) any adviser or consultant of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity to subscribe for the
shares of the Company.
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The maximum number of shares in respect to which options
may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of adopting the
Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any time provided that the
new limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval in general meeting. However, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the shares in issue from time to time. The limit of the Scheme
was refreshed at a general meeting held on 10 August 2012.
At 31 December 2012, the total number of shares available for
issued under the Scheme was 36,000,000 (2011: 20,000,000)
shares, which represented approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at that day of refreshment. The maximum
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company has been obtained
in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of
the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant as may
be determined by the Directors. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets on the date of the grant of the options; (ii) the
average closing price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the options; or (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

During the year, no share option was granted, exercised, expired
or lapsed and there is no outstanding share option under the
Scheme.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry with all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied
with the code of conduct and the required standard of dealings
concerning securities transactions by the Directors during the year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of
the Group are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. In March 2012, the practice of HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng was reorganised as HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited. A resolution for the appointment of HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company for the
subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013
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Hodgson Impey Cheng

HLB

Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 41 to 119, which comprise the consolidated and
Company statements of financial position as at 31 December
2012, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2012 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Profit from operations
Finance costs

Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year attributable to the
owners of the Company

Earnings per share

— Basic

— Diluted

A

HEKA

EF

HUgA
HE R HKR AR
TR

Fed g
BMEKA

R AR A

PSRRI

R BFER ARG FEEF

BREF

— &R

—#E

Note
k=3

8

2012 2011
—E-—F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREBTT
166,906 156,476
(138,500) (114,470)
28,406 42,006
4,776 998
(7.316) (7,749)
(11,840) (11,290)
14,026 23,965
(1,731) (1,490)
12,295 22,475
(1,497) (3,624)
10,798 18,851
RMB RMB
AR AR

2.0 cents 9.1 cents >
2.0 cents 9.1 cents >

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss, net of income tax:

Exchange differences on translating foreign
operations

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to the owners of the Company

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2012 2011
—E-—F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBF T
10,798 18,851
(85) (33)
10,713 18,818




At 31 December 2012
R-FE——Ff=ZH=4+—H

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid land lease payments
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Prepaid land lease payments
Inventories
Trade receivables
Note receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables
Held-for-trading investments
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
the owners of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

’E

FRBEE

W - BER&iE
BN LA EFR
BELERIAE E

RBEE

N LA E TR
&

JE W E 5 5R0A

A ES
BNIR - B REM
Mg IR
FIFEERE

HAE RIRITREER

AEAE

R
RABRERABEERRAE

N
&

RERAE

Note
k=3

18
19
33

19
21
22

23
24
25

26
28

2012 2011
—E——F %
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
40,146 42,253
2,917 2,990
1,036 854
44,099 46,097

73 73

15,555 13,806
64,678 60,109
8,730 3,400
21,184 15,258
4,405 —
82,132 16,387
196,757 109,033
240,856 155,130
89,086 20,552
98,908 92,022
187,994 112,574
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

REMBARRR )

At 31 December 2012
R-FE——Ff=ZH=4+—H

LIABILITIES aE

Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables JERTE 5 7IE
Accruals and other payables FEET B FA K Hoh FE < 5/ 1E
Borrowings &
Finance lease payables JE BB E IR
Tax payable JER T 1E

Total liabilities FER=Ri

Total equity and liabilities EERkAEHE

Net current assets REBEETE

Total assets less current liabilities HWEERARBEE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2013 and signed
on its behalf by:

Zhuang Yuejin
HRE

Director

EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated fi
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2012 2011
—ET-—F —E——F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
wiat AR®T AREFT
29 17,410 10,374
30 5,397 4,950
31 29,500 25,000
32 — 209
555 2,023

52,862 42,556

240,856 155,130

143,895 66,477

187,994 112,574

R-T—=F=A-+/\HAE=ESHELH T
ATHRERZEE

Pak Ping
a¥

Director

EFE

nancial statements.

LIMITED



At 31 December 2012
R-FE——Ff=ZH=4+—H

Note
k3
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RE B AR RIEE 20
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and deposits FERT I RIES 23
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E e 20
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTES 25
Total assets BEERAE
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to EREHEBEABLERRFiE
the owners of the Company
Share capital N 26
Reserves whiE 28
Total equity A
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals and other payables FEET B FA K Hoh FE < 5/ 1E 30
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE - B /B 2 R 3RIE 20
Total liabilities BERE
Total equity and liabilities EERkAEHRE
Net current assets FBEERE
Total assets less current liabilities WEERARBAR

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2013 and signed on its behalf by:
RECEBE—Z=F=A_+/\EHEFGHETHTIALRERESE :

Zhuang Yuejin
HRE

Director

EZE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2012 2011
—E-—F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

17,872 17,872
675 82
37,729 23,492
53,124 5,874
91,528 29,448
109,400 47,320
89,086 20,552
19,760 26,108
108,846 46,660
554 350
— 310
554 660
109,400 47,320
90,974 28,788
108,846 46,660
Pak Ping
B ¥
Director
EZE
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

At 1 January 2011

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the year,
net of income tax:

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year

Placing of shares
Share issue expenses
Transfer to statutory reserve

At 31 December 2011 and
1 January 2012

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the year,
net of income tax:

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for
the year

Open offer of shares
Share issue expenses

Transfer to statutory reserve

At 31 December 2012

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

RAZE——%-F-H

EREH

FRAMEERSR
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BEBNEH ENER

FR2A(BR)/EER
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&k
R &TRX
BRTEERRE

RZF——
T-A=+-8k
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FRAR
ERAMEZERR

M FEHRE :
BEENFH B ER

FR2A(ER)/WEER

ARRERD
UEBIE
BRTEERRE

RZB-Z#+ZA=t-H

B OB RERE AR L AR & BA TS SRR A9 —RE D

Foreign

currency
Share Share Merger  translation  Statutory Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits equity
e gyt AHRE MBRERE EERE REEF BEAH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETL  ARKTR  ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETRT  ARETR
17,275 18,565 5,992 2,690 5,464 36,364 86,350
- — - — — 18,851 18,851
— — — (33) - - (33)
— — — (33) - 18,851 18,818
32717 4,915 - - - - 8,192
- (786) - - - - (786)
_ _ — - 2217 (2.217) -
20,552 22,694 5,992 2,657 7,681 52,998 112,574
- — — — - 10,798 10,798
— — — (85) — — (85)
— — — (85) — 10,798 10,713
68,534 — — — - — 68,534
- (3.827) — — - — (3.827)
— — — — 746 (746) —
89,086 18,867 5,992 2,572 8,421 63,050 187,994
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
BEr—F——F=H=1—HIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Interest expenses
Finance lease charges
Interest income
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables
Inventories written off
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Realised gain on held-for-trading investments
Unrealised gain on held-for-trading investments
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Operating profit before working capital changes

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

(Increase)/decrease in note receivables

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables

Increase/(decrease) in accruals and other payables

Net cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Finance lease charges paid

Tax refund

Income taxes paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of loan receivables

Interest received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Addition of construction in progress

Purchase of held-for-trading investments

Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading
investments

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

2012 2011
—E-CF —EF——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREET T

BRETHELENRASRE

R 5 A A 12,295 22,475

AT SEEL AR

AE Eﬂ?z 1,724 1,464

BMEHEE 7 26

fIJ,%\udz)\ (28) (24)

PN E 5 IBHER B EEE 117 246

FE M8 410 294

W - BEMREETE 4,479 3,415

BIEEBRENEEH = (1,122) —

BIEEEREBNARB RN (1,725) —

TEAS £ i T B SR IR 8 73 73

HEME - BE REREBE

34 47
LEESBERAIZLE R 16,264 28,016
FELE N (2,159) (4,163)
U E 5 FRIFE N (4,686) (13,389)
FEMZE S (32 00), R (5.330) 2,640
TETFRIE ~ ke R E At FEWGRIE

(&), md (5,926) 6,323
FERE SFIEE M, CRid) 7,036 (5,098)
FERTE R R EMEM KB M,

CRA) 447 (4,695)
KBRS F5E 5,646 9,634
BFE (1,724) (1,464)
ENREHEER (7) (26)
RE 283 341
BRI ATER (3,430) (3,897)
KRB RIS TR 768 4,588
REZHELENRERE
BEEWER — 118
2 HF S 28 24
BEME - BERH&E (264) (1,912)
ERIRAE (2,342) (15,751)
BERIEEERE (7.899) —
HEREEEREMSHIEA

6,341 =
HEWME - BEREEBMEHIE

200 23
wEEEFAR ST (3,936) (17,498)

FEAEAHKERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

REEERERHF)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BEr—F——F=H=1—HIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from short-term bank loans
Repayment of short-term bank loans
Repayment of finance lease payables
Repayment of amount due from a director
Repayment of amounts due to shareholders
Repayment to an unrelated party

Proceeds from open offer of shares

Proceeds from issue of shares

Share issuing expense

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of

the year

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the

year

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and bank balances

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2012 2011
—E-——F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT T
48,900 30,000
(44,400) (26,000)
(209) (234)

— 38

— (22)

— (848)

68,534 —

— 8,192

(3,827) (786)
68,998 10,340
65,830 (2,570)
16,387 18,990
(85) (33)
82,132 16,387
82,132 16,387




For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9
December 2009 with limited liability. The registered office
of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The address of the Group’'s principal place of business is
located at No. 28 Xinfeng Road, Xinfeng Industrial Park,
Fanggian Town, New District, Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of nonwoven fabric products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and infrastructure and trading of rubber.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousands, except when otherwise indicated.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 29 September 2010 (the
“Listing Date").

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new
and revised standards, amendments and interpretations
(“new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant
to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2012.

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of

Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)  Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying

Assets

The Directors anticipate that the application of these new
HKFRSs has no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.

—REHR
ARRRZZEEZNF+ZANBRFAEHS
AL ABRAR c NARGFEMPFEREN
B CricketSquare, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, GrandCayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ° AREBEHF ELE MU RPEAR
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TEEFTEEE 2858 ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 1 (Amendments)
HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12
HKFRS 13

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and

HKFRS 12 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (Amendments)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
HKAS 32 (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Government Loan’

Financial Instruments*
Consolidated Financial Statements
Joint Arrangements’

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?
Fair Value Measurement?

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS
9 and Transition Disclosures*

Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities?

Consolidated Financial Statements,
Joint Arrangements and Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities:
Transition Guidance’

Investment Entities’

Employee Benefits’

Separate Financial Statements’

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures®

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income'

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2009-2011 Cycle?

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine’

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

P IS HR AR M o (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

1

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in November 2010 to
include requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

All recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent reporting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not
held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with
only dividend income generally recognised in profit or
loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss,
HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the
fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in
other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes
in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to
changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Previously,
under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in
the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair
value through profit or loss was presented in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2015, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in
the future may have a significant impact on the amounts
reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities (e.g. the Group’s available-for-sale
investments may have to be measured at fair value at the
end of subsequent reporting periods, with changes in the
fair value being recognised in profit or loss). Regarding the
Group’s financial assets, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has
been completed.

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued,
including HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2011) and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described
below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that deal with consolidated
financial statements. HK (SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities will be withdrawn upon the effective date
of HKFRS 10. Under HKFRS 10, there is only one basis for
consolidation, that is, control. In addition, HKFRS 10 includes
a new definition of control that contains three elements: (a)
power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the investor's returns. Extensive guidance has
been added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.

FERHIREETERMBREER
(IR BRELER D) 2

ERNBREEANFEIREMTAE)
BEEVBRELNEIRN T —HF—A—
Az RN EREMELERN  WEERFE
-

EEMER PRRMBEM B REENE IR
AR E U ARENTREERSRAGRNA
EREVEREAFEWMAKENAHEE
BETBEZANERREMRIZ A FENE - H
NP EZHHNIERER) - RAKEHSE
BEMS  BEETKFARNA - ZHBEBY
EMEEMFL AT

FHGARE S48 TH BELAMN
R BHH T RAEBTER
R-Z——F ACEMEEEEEKRE - a%
R BERARUREENTRENES 8
REBUBREENFE 105  EERBRE
ERF115 - BRAYBHRELENE 125 - &
BEENFE27IR(CE——FLETDEE
BETERE 28 (- F——FFKIEFT) »

HERREANEERERAMAT -

BERMBREENE10RRAEB S ER
F22TPAEERBUHFHHEZNBREE M
BEROHBD - BE(FRREZEE) — 28
F12%ERE — BRENERERBAMH
REEMNFE10FRERB BT ARG - REF
BUBREENFE 105 EF —BEFEKE
E¥E . ARSI - toh - BAEP B RE LR
FI0ORESEFENIESR  EhBRE=E
TR (a)BREHIBIRERT : (b) B2 HEEK
KRERREEMSFBOMARESERN R
(QREMEREHWBRERANENAZER
BEORSHE BFAEYBKHREENFE105E
ARSI BRIR T A I AGFARFES] o

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2012



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.
HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which
two or more parties have joint control should be classified.
HK (SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-monetary
Contributions by Venturers will be withdrawn upon
the effective date of HKFRS 11. Under HKFRS 11, joint
arrangements are classified as joint operations or joint
ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the
parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS 31,
there are three types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled
entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled
operations. In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11
are required to be accounted for using the equity method
of accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under
HKAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity method of
accounting or proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities
that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In
general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 12 are more
extensive than those in the current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain transitional guidance
on the application of these five HKFRSs for the first time.

These five standards, together with the amendments relating
to the transitional guidance, are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with earlier application
permitted provided all of these standards are applied at the
same time.

The directors anticipate that the application of these five
standards will have no impact to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements. The standard defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, and requires disclosures
about fair value measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is
broad; it applies to both financial instrument items and non-
financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs require or
permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair
value measurements, except in specified circumstances. In
general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 13 are more
extensive than those in the current standards. For example,
quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the three-
level fair value hierarchy currently required for financial
instruments only under HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures will be extended by HKFRS 13 to cover all assets
and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that the application of the new
standard may affect certain amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and result in more
extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 7 and HKAS 32 (Amendments)
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities and the related disclosures

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application
issues relating to the offset of financial assets and financial
liabilities requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify
the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of
set-off” and “simultaneous realisation and settlement”.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose
information about rights of offset and related arrangements
(such as collateral posting requirements) for financial
instruments under an enforceable master netting agreement
or similar arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 7 and HKAS 32 (Amendments)
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities and the related disclosures
(Continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and interim
periods within those annual periods. The disclosures should
be provided retrospectively for all comparative periods.
However, the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with
retrospective application required.

The directors anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKAS 32 and HKFRS 7 may result in more
disclosures being made with regard to offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities in the future.

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 introduce new terminology
for the statement of comprehensive income and income
statement. Under the amendments to HKAS 1, a statement
of comprehensive income is renamed as a statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and an income
statement is renamed as a statement of profit or loss. The
amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in either a single
statement or in two separate but consecutive statements.
However, the amendments to HKAS 1 require items of other
comprehensive income to be grouped into two categories
in the other comprehensive income section: (a) items that
will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b)
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of
other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on
the same basis. The amendments do not change the option
to present items of other comprehensive income either
before tax or net of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The presentation of items
of other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly
when the amendments are applied in the future accounting
periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011
Cycle issued in June 2012

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013. Amendments to HKFRSs include:

° amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements;

. amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment; and

. amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 requires an entity that changes accounting policies
retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or
reclassification to present a statement of financial position as
at the beginning of the preceding period (third statement of
financial position). The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that
an entity is required to present a third statement of financial
position only when the retrospective application, restatement
or reclassification has a material effect on the information
in the third statement of financial position and that related
notes are not required to accompany the third statement of
financial position.

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

The amendments to HKAS 16 clarify that spare parts, stand-
by equipment and servicing equipment should be classified
as property, plant and equipment when they meet the
definition of property, plant and equipment in HKAS 16 and
as inventory otherwise. The directors do not anticipate that
the amendments to HKAS 16 will have a significant effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 32 (Amendments)

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify that income tax
on distributions to holders of an equity instrument and
transaction costs of an equity transaction should be
accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes.
The directors anticipate that the amendments to HKAS 32
will have no effect on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (the
“Interpretations”) issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong, in addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except certain financial instruments
are stated at their fair values. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for assets.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its
subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition and up
to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests have a
deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured
at revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative
gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly
disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured
at their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified
in another HKFRS.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify
as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is a company in which the Company, directly
or indirectly, controls more than one half of the voting
power; has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies; to appoint or remove the majority of the members
of the board of directors; or to cast majority of votes at the
meetings of the board of directors.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less any impairment
loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE—
3.

——Ft A= HIUFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyers, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using effective interest method.

Technical support income is recognised when the technical
support services are rendered.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the leases transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance assets are recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the
lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
charged directly to the consolidated income statement.

Rental payable under operating leases are charged to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the relevant lease. Benefits received and
receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease
are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.

FESTBER®E)

LN

WAZB SR BRREZ AFEFE - RIEHE
HEEBBETLEE M EURHRIAEHERT
NRHERBBIER) -

HEEmNWARNEmABENEANRR M
HEBEESRER  AKERETSE K
AT AR EIEE - TREREHRLE

S U ATR B B A BOR IR [ L I 21

=7
s ©

BT SR AT R B S IR AR5 B RS

HE

NS IGRBR TR A R B AR D B & (2 g
BYEEAZHE  HIEREMEE - TAHR
EEANIIEEEHE -

EEBEBARBA

RBEBEER M HACEECEHERGRRA
FEISEREFRRE(UAREE SE)ER
RAEEERE - RVHBEAZBEEBERES
FHRAKRPFAREREALRE - HEKER
FHERREESARERERIE - AEEES
BRIEHGE—FE - PHERERERS KSR
AFNER ©

KREHEET 2 ENESNERESHANER
FEAEARERAER - ERFIUKEHER
BE 2 B W R ERAENEE BN A B AREE
RBAEEFSORER °

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2012



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception
of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid land
lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire
lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the consolidated income statement in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be
obtained from the use of the property, plant and equipment,
the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that
asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE—
3.

——Ft A= HIUFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over
their estimated useful lives. The principal useful lives are as
follows:

Building 30 years
Plant and machinery 12 years
Motor vehicles 8 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents leasehold improvements
under construction and plant and machinery pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses.
Depreciation begins when the relevant asset are available for
use.

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is
determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset and is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market and are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An
allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance is
the difference between the receivables’ carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
The amount of the allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
and recognised in profit or loss when an increase in the
receivables’ recoverable amount can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the
receivables at the date the impairment is reversed shall not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment of assets (other than goodwiill,
intangible assets with indefinite lives)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BEr T —F+ - H=+—HIFFZE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable and
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liabilities method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of the other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to
consolidated income statement except when it relates to
items charged or credited directly or equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in the consolidated income
statement.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL"). The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE—
3.

——Ft A= HIUFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

. if forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the "other income”.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. At the end of each reporting period
subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.

An impairment loss is recognised in consolidated income
statement when there is objective evidence that the asset
is impaired, and is measured as the difference between
the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed
in subsequent periods when an increase in the asset’'s
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses were recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment losses reversed do not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment losses not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally
classified into other financial liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in consolidated
income statement.

Financial liabilities are removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in consolidated
income statement.

FESTBER®E)

EWMIAE)

EHEERER
SEERETHSRABERBATAIRERR
VARRENATAReRBERKRATA
MEEDE -

BATATEAASENREMBRERNE
EFHERSBEENEMEH - FEENEE
BE-ROIBEREMERAE - TXHIIHE
BAEERRATARANGFTEE -

BEtL@arE
Hit BB ERRRAERN SRR HEKAR

HE

KATA
RRAFRETHRATALHRERZBEITRAR
REWAERBAR -

BE R

HtEEWRBRE S REZENER - XE/ME
ECHEEMEEERSREERGERZBK
MoRRkE®R  ASREERIUEER - 1
BUREREREER - EEREEEZWKE
REBEERESERZ RHEEMEANREZ
ZRRNTE WS RIER

HREREEMS  REBEHNZIEER EER
B BUBSEHE - @RBESEARERLR
BMBIRARB - BUEER 2R A ERE
ERDNHENREMER 2 ZBRGEE K&
RIER -

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2012



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BEr T —F+ - H=+—HIFFZE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Current assets and liabilities

Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the end of the reporting period or in the normal
course of the Group’s operating cycle. Current liabilities are
expected to be settled within twelve months of the end of
the reporting period or in the normal course of the Group's
operating cycle.

Contingent liabilities and contingent
assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that
is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group.
A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.

Foreign currencies

i.  Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each
of the companies now comprising the Group are
measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the company operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi, which is the
Company’s presentation currency and the functional
currency of the principal operating subsidiary of the
Group. The functional currency of the Company
is Hong Kong dollars. The directors consider that
choosing Renminbi as the presentation currency best
suits the needs of the shareholders and investors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHEBE®#E)

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

ii. Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated income statement.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities are reported as part of their fair
value gain or loss.

iii. Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the companies
now comprising the Group (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

(a) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rate;

(b) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates; and

(c)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and
of borrowings and other currency instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are taken to owners’ equity.
When a foreign operation is sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations of the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC are
required to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for all its PRC employees at certain percentages
of the basic salaries predetermined by the local
governments. The state-sponsored retirement plan is
responsible for the entire retirement benefit obligations
payable to retired employees and the Group has no
further obligations for the actual retirement benefit
payments or other post-retirement benefits beyond the
annual contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

3.

FESTBER®E)

EEEF

(i)

(i)

ESEZRA
BENFRERBRBERNEEEESE
BT IATER - BEREHRIL - BAEE
PR (80 AR 75 1 22 A2 Y S R R R HA AR 7%
BOEETRED R -

BENRBREERNEBAREBED S HE

5
27
o ©

EEZLEMF

AEB A REREEBREIRIRG
& o AEE BB YA BRI E
BEMEAFENAOLFE - BREA
OBR M RIKR MG B A T g A R B

NZEFESHOMHNR -

RBFEZRUNIOER - NRARESE
S Z BB A R ZRAR B IR TR 2 2
AHeETADLRMAETEESRE
REBZBRNFHEIER - BREEZR
REt Bl B R RRKER X MRKERNZ
—EE BREFHIN AREEE
SRR SRR E MR AR R R T H
W EE—FRE -

(iii) #LIEEEF

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2012

RitEAEAMNERANEEEEEAMF
AMETAHESTRNBERT - AEER
A% 1F B R B R BRER B RR e B A e T R 4
WA - 7 THER ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type of class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows of the financial assets have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

(b) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

(c) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

(d) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in equity. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed
if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition
of the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the date of grant and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE—
4.

——Ft A= HIUFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade receivables based on
assessments of the recoverability of the trade receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each debtor. Impairment arises where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful
debts requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where
the actual result is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade
receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the reporting
period in which such estimate has been changed. During
the year, the Group has provided impairment loss of
approximately RMB117,000 for trade receivables (2011:
RMB246,000).

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for the Group's
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The
Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers
to be probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Impairment of non-current assets

If a triggering event occurs indicating that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable, an assessment
of the carrying amountof that asset will be performed.
Triggering events include significant adverse changes in
the market value of an asset, changes in the business
or regulatory environment, or certain legal events. The
interpretation of such events requires judgment from
management with respect to whether such an event has
occurred. Upon the occurrence of triggering events, the
carrying amounts of non-current assets are reviewed to
assess whether their recoverable amounts have declined
below their carrying amounts. The recoverable amount is
the present value of estimated net future cash flows which
the Group expects to generate from the future use of the
asset, plus the assets residual value on disposal. Where the
recoverable amount of non-current assets is less than its
carrying value, an impairment loss is recognised to write the
assets down to its recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

P IS SRR M o (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. €@MIA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) eI ASHE
The Group The Company
AEME AT
2012 2011 2012 2011
—E-—fF —ZT——%F =ZB-Zf =—ZT——F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARETTI AR®TR AR®ETR
Financial assets: EREE !
Held-for-trading investments $F{EEFKE 4,405 — — _
Loans and receivables B M e FRIE
(including cash and cash (BERES N
equivalents) ReEED) 157,994 86,530 90,853 29,366
Financial liabilities: - =L
Amortised cost BHERCAR 52,307 40,533 554 660
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) REREEEEREE

and policies

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, fair
value interest rate risks and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of
the Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial
structure and the current operations of the Group,
no major hedging activities are undertaken by
management.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Market risk
Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Interest rate risk
(i) Exposure to interest rate risk

The Group’'s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rate relates primarily to its bank
deposits and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
Interest-bearing bank borrowings at floating rates
expose the Group to interest rate risk.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2012, if interest rates at the
date had been 100 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s
profit for the year would decrease/increase by
approximately RMB16,000 (2011: RMB14,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure as result of increase/decrease interest
expense on short-term bank loans net off with
interest income from bank deposits.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment. The Group currently does not
have a hedging policy in respect of the risk exposure.
In addition, the management of the Group would
monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the
risk exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

HE—F—

5.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

—FEFH=F—HILFEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis on change in fair value of held-for-
trading investments

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to price risk at the end of the
reporting period. If prices had been 10% higher/lower,
profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$368,000 (2011:
Nil). This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of
held-for-trading investments.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
trade receivables included in the consolidated
statements of financial position represents the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group’s financial assets.

The Group has certain exposure to credit risk as the
trade receivables from the five largest customers as
at 31 December 2012 represented 69% (2011: 58%)
of total trade receivables, while 20% (2011: 17%) of
the total trade receivables were due from the largest
single customer. It has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are international and state-
owned banks with good reputation.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated with its
financial assets.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of
financial assets and liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based
on the contractual maturities of the undiscounted
financial liabilities including interest that will accrue to
those liabilities except where the Group are entitled
and intends to repay the liability before its maturity.

Annual Report 2012
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. €@IA#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MERREEBEZERBEKE)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) nEELEE (&)
At 31 December 2012 R-B-—-%+-A=+—H
The Group FEE
Weighted
average  On demand Total Total
effective or within Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flow amount
METH EZR KRR
Yk PR-F —FhE hERH RELE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR

Non-derivative financial FiEERER
liabilities
Trade payables EREHHE - 17,410 - 17,410 17,410
Accruals and other payables Xt ER R LM ENTE - 5,397 - 5,397 5,397
Borrowings & 6.4% 30,445 - 30,445 29,500
53,252 — 53,252 52,307
The Company RATE]
Weighted
average  On demand Total Total
effective or within Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flow amount
MEF EZR RERRE
BRA=E SR-F —F0E hEAE RELE
% RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR
Non-derivative financial FiEEeRER
liabilities
Accruals and other payables BB AR LM EMNZE - 554 - 554 554
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. €@IA#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MERREEBEZERBEKE)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBELEE(E)
At 31 December 2011 RZZE——F+-A=+—H
The Group TEM
Weighted
average On demand Total Total
effective or within Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flow amount
MEFS FEEst RUERES
BRI DR—F —EH)E mEEE REGME
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT

Non-derivative financial FiEeRaR
liabilities
Trade payables ERESHE - 10,374 - 10,374 10,374
Accruals and other payables B AR LM ENTE - 4,950 - 4,950 4,950
Borrowings & 6.5% 25,805 - 25,805 25,000
Finance lease payables ERRERETE 7.6% 216 - 216 209
41,345 — 41,345 40,533
=i
The Company ach
Weighted
average On demand Total Total
effective or within Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flow amount
T ek REBRE
ERAE PR—F —E)E mERE REER
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT
Non-derivative financial FiTEEeRAR
liabilities
Accruals and other payables Bt ER R At EMTE - 350 - 350 350
Amounts due to subsidiaries ENHBARZE — 310 — 310 310

660 = 660 660

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

(i) the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments)
with standard terms and conditions and traded
on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively;

(i) the fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis
is performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives.

(iii) the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding those described
above) are determined in accordance with
generally pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their
fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial
position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to

3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable:

1. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

2. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

5.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

P IS SRR M o (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
E T E— - A= —HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in

the consolidated statement of financial

position (Continued)

3. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs

for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

At 31 December 2012

5. TRIA#E)
(c) ERMIEZAFEE)

The Group
Level 1
& Bl —
RMB’000
AR%T
Financial assets SWMEE
Held-for-trading investments 35 {EE&EHRE 4,405

REBHBHRRXRE 2D FEIH

B(#)

3. MA=ZAFEFEABRELIFE
RABERMGREBE(TATBREH
BIZBEERBEHE 2 MERM

B -

R-ZE——-F+=-HA=+-—H

AEE

Level 2 Level 3 Total
&A= wA= &&t
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR%®Trx
— — 4,405

There was no financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value under levels 1, 2 and 3 as at 31 December
2011.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 in
both years.

No analysis is disclosed since the Group has no
financial assets and liabilities measured under level 2
and 3 during the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2012.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

P IS HR AR M o (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

6.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from 2011.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
includes borrowings and finance lease payables) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital and reserves. The directors of the Company review
the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with capital. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the issuance of new shares as well as the
addition of new borrowings.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at 31 December 2012 and 2011 was as
follows:

EXmEmER
AEEEREEA - NRRAEENE KB
WA - R IR E (RS 2 T
& AREFREEDNS - 5T —FH
4 W PR RIS T o

AEBEZEARBRARA(BEERLEN
BEHERB)ARARRHE AEEER(E
HRERTEARMERE) - AAREFTE R
BARRE - iRs — 80 EFEREARK
AREXEERR AEESREEEZER
BEBBITHR NG ER  FEHERRERE
e

EXRRREER
R=B——ER_F——FFT_A=t-RH
ARELEMT -

2012 2011

—ZT-—F —E——fF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBT ARBTF T

Debt =R 29,500 25,209
Total equity RS HEER 187,994 112,574
Gearing ratio BERBELE 15.7% 22.4%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

HE—F—

7.

ZFF A= —HIEFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. AEEH
Information reported to the directors of the Company, being MASESEE(AIFELERARE)EWMADE
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of BRMFHEDERIRNER - ZEEMNEER
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance SIRERGHER c REE=Z—F+=A
focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or =+—HIFE HTESERLAEELET)
provided. During the year ended 31 December 2011, the WEEE -0 3 - REREERARTE
executive directors have identified the Group’s operating NE N ERENBHHER REE T ——
is regarded as a single business segment, which is the F+ZA=ZT—HIEFE  AEEDEF#
manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric products used FERFIEEE I EDE -
in automotive interior decoration parts and infrastructure.
During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group
has entered into a new operating segment “supply and
procurement operation”.
REEMKE R 2HHFOT
The Group’s operating and reportable segments are as
follows:
(i) *”ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ NAE R R B
(i)  the manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric products AN EM
used in automotive interior decoration parts and
infrastructure; and
(i) MEKEBLEEHOB(BEERRR) -
(i)  the supply and procurement operation segment
including trading of rubber.
DEBMAREE
Segment revenue and results
Supply and Manufacture and
procurement sale of nonwoven
operation fabric products Total
HERKBLZ RERHEEGHER ait
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
~B-CF —2—E —B-Cf —E—F “B-Cf —R—E
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARETTT ARBTR ARBFT
Segment revenue: AHEBA
Sales to external customers HETIIEP 6,673 — 160,233 156,476 166,906 156,476
Segment results DEVERE 5 (13) 14,036 27,631 14,041 27,618
Unallocated corporate income  RARAFRA 2,875 43
Unallocated corporate expenses  AARATRX (2,890) (3,696)
14,026 23,965
Finance costs HERA (1,731) (1,490)
Profit before tax BRART 12,295 22,475

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales for the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2012.

A EZ2HANDFRATIRE MBS WA ©
BE_T——FRk-_F——-F+-_A=1—8H
LIEEEWED BPEUWA -

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—_FT——F+_HA=+—HIFEZE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note
3. Segment results represents the profit/(loss) from each
segment without allocation of bank interest income, realised
gain on held-for-trading investments, unrealised gain on
held-for-trading investments, central operating expenses
including staff costs, finance costs and income tax expense.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
marker for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

7. DEERE)

DEBAREE(E)

REDHN ST HEREAMNEI MM AEEE

SRR o D RPRAE RN AL E D BLRITH S

WA~ HEEERAENCER NS  HEEER

BREMNKRERWE  PRTRER(BREET

BOAS mﬂéﬁk$&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ'ﬂ§)'\iiﬂ7—%%ﬁ

E!’Jiﬁ?if'J/(Eﬂ@) TR EZEERKER
DEREREFEDBRANGEELE

THEERER

Supply and Manufacture and
procurement sale of nonwoven
operation fabric products Total
HERKBEE RERHEEGHER CEl
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
-“g--% -Z-——% CZE-Zf -"T--% ZB-Zf —ZT—-%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETrT  AR®TR  ARBTR

ASSETS EE

Segment assets PHEE 8,157 3 170,414 149,169 178,571 149,172

Unallocated corporate assets KARDAEE 62,285 5,958

Total assets BES] 240,856 155,130

LIABILITIES af

Segment liabilities PEEE — — 52,308 42,205 52,308 42,205

Unallocated corporate liabilities AP EAAEE 554 351

Total liabilities BREES 52,862 42,556

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and RERSEIBRBENDEESEEIR :

allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable segment other — KBREEERERAFeMEE(BER
than held-for-trading investments and corporate B RIBITHER)IN - FTEEEHDEER
financial assets including cash and bank balance. E;DHEL ©

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other — KkloarcspaE(RREEGFERAREME
than corporate financial liabilities including accruals NI - FABEEEHSEER 28D
and other payables. 2B o

FESEAEEGR AR 91
—B-—FER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Other segment information

The following is analysis of the Group’s other segment

information:

Capital expenditure

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Amortisation of prepaid land
lease payments

Inventories written off

Impairment loss recognised in
respect of trade receivables

Revenue from major products and services

Information about product is set out in Note 8.

=h
0N

NE - BERRENE

ERARNEHHERERE

Geographical information

The Group’s operation are located in Hong Kong and the

PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current by geographical location

are detailed below.

The PRC
Hong Kong

*  Non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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h
&5

REH

DEENE)
Rt B &R
AT RAEEOE S HER DN -

Supply and Manufacture and
procurement sale of nonwoven
operation fabric products Total
RERKRHELE RERHERGTER ait
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
~g-=¢ -F % <c-§-=§ T F -2 _TF
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AR%TR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
- — 2,606 17,663 2,606 17,663
- — 4,479 3,415 4,479 3,415
- — 3 73 73 73
- — 410 294 410 294
— — 17 246 17 246
REETEEMEBRBHBA

BRAERMNERBNHES

HEE R
AEBERNEBEMINUNEERFE -

AT R A S BER B SNEE P WA R BRI
R DHIERBEENEFR

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets*

A E SRR A B
2012 2011 2012 2011
—g-—f -T——45 =—B-=F -FT—F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ABBTRE AEBTT ARMTLT ARETFT
160,233 156,476 43,029 45,243
6,673 = 34 —
166,906 156,476 43,063 45,243

*

FRBEETBEELEHRAEE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. oEERE)
Information about major customers FRIXEEFMESR
For the year ended 31 December 2012, revenue generated BHEZ-——"F+-_A=+—RHIEFE" B8
from three (2011: four) customers of the Group amounting AREB=ZZEP(ZE——%F: MZ)ELEN
to RMB79,046,000 (2011: RMB92,295,000) has individually WA AN R 79,046,000 t(ZF——F :+ A
accounted for over 10% of the Group's total revenue. No K #92,295,0007T ) & B 16 A& B @ U AR
other single customer contributed 10% or more to the B10% E-FT——FR-T——F+=A
Group’s revenue for both years ended 31 December 2012 =+—HIEMEFE  BEEME-—FFER
and 2011, EEMKA10% A E -
Revenue from major customers, each of them amounted to FEZPHBA(SEREEW AL 10% A
10% or more of the Group’s revenue, are set out below: )& T
2012 2011
S —T——%
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Customer A BEA 37,255 30,376

Customer B ZFEB 23,031 22,124

Customer C BEC 18,760 17,059

Customer D ZFED — 22,736
8. REVENUE 8. WA

The Group’s revenue represents sales of nonwoven fabric ANEBW AR RENMEFMEZNELS T

products used in automotive interior decoration parts and in ERAEE RIZBIEE -

infrastructure and sales of rubber.

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA DT
2012 2011
—E——F —E——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARETTT

Nonwoven fabric for use in automobiles AR /AENES

— Sale of automotive floor carpets — AEBEMHAEE 90,234 96,771
— Sale of other automotive parts — Hih ) RERAMEE 69,999 56,121
Nonwoven fabric for use in infrastructure RAREENEST = 3,584
Sales of rubber BRBRHE 6,673 =

166,906 156,476

FESERSMIEBEERA R 93
—E-—FEH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For

the year ended 31 December 2012

BEr T —F+ - H=+—HIFFZE

9.

10.

OTHER INCOME

Bank interest income

Technical support income

Realised gain on held-for-trading investments

Unrealised gain on held-for-trading
investments

Others

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

The Group’s profit from operations is stated after charging

the following:

Auditors’ remuneration

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Operating lease rentals in respect of rented
premises

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)
(Note 14):

— Salaries and other benefits

— Retirement benefits scheme contributions

Cost of inventories recognised as cost of sales

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Inventories written off

Impairment loss recognised on trade
receivables

Research and development expenditure (Note)

Note:

The amount included in cost of sales for the year amounted to

approximately RMB6,470,000 (2011: RMB4,973,000).

9. HftA
2012 2011
—B—=fF —ET——%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBEF T
RITH BULA 28 24
Bz A 1,426 600
BIEBEBEREMNDSER Y= 1,122 —
BEEBEREMNAERIE
1,725 —
Efh 475 374
4,776 998
10. &K&EF
REBMCERFB NGB THZIE
2012 2011
—E-=F —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREET T
ZE AN & 473 482
BTN T ERIE 73 73
Y - BEREETE 4,479 3,415
ERNEMENKEHEER
137 942
BIXNA(REESHH)
(Bat 14) :
— e REMEF 9,388 10,666
— RUNR AT B LK 2,815 2,654
ERABERANEEFERAE 116,347 89,446
HEME - WEREBEZEBE
34 47
FEH#E 410 294
BLIE U B 5 BB R EE 1B
117 246
e R BT (i aE) 6,470 4,973
Hizt -

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2012
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

#2E
11.

12.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December
2012. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required
since the Group has no assessable profit in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable rates based on
estimated taxable income earned by the PRC subsidiary of
the Group with certain tax preference, based on existing
legislation, interpretation and practice in respect thereof.

Pursuant to the enterprise income tax rules and regulations
of the PRC, the applicable PRC EIT rate of the Group’s PRC
subsidiary is 25%.

—E——FF A=+ —HIFE
FINANCE COSTS . BLE KA
2012 2011
=2-=F —T——F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREF T
Interest expenses on the bank borrowings AR AFRBEEENRITER
wholly repayable within five years MFEE A 1,724 1,464
Finance lease charges REHEEMA 7 26
1,731 1,490
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 2. BB xX
2012 2011
—E-=F —E——%
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%T AREF T
Current tax B EA 18
Hong Kong BE 398 —
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") RIS
(HECEMREH]) 1,564 4,056
1,962 4,056
Over provision in previous years BEFEHEBERE
PRC EIT I PTIST (283) (341)
Deferred tax ERER IR
Current year NEE (182) (91
1,497 3,624

REFEHELRRBEARKE((RBERAR
BEDROUIER  AEERFHSHERRE
HERRBEEBRARREMMAEH

HEZT——HF+-_F=1+—HItFE  BE
MERIZ T ERHEF165% T8 - AR
AEEREBEE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HLHF
EERBVEEECTARRIES - I &R
BEANESHIEL B -

PEMEMERIRERITAD - REREAMH
Bf - REAETHAEENAEENF R
BRI RE AR EARTLRA - OB R R
& ,

RBEPBELEMEHRAROIFOESR - AEERH
BB R ERTEERMSHER25% °

FEAEAHKERRAF
—B-CFFH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BEr T —F+ - H=+—HIFFZE
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, an innovative
and high-end technology enterprise may enjoy a preferential
enterprise income tax rate of 15% (”IHT Enterprise
Rate”). On 22 December 2009, Joystar Wuxi obtained
the “Certificate of Innovative and High-end Technology
Enterprise” with validity period of three years. The IHT
Enterprise Rate enjoyed by Joystar Wuxi was expired in
December 2012. Joystar Wuxi has obtained the Certificate of
Innovative and High-end Technology Enterprise in November
2012 and Joystar Wuxi also was in progress to apply the IHT
Enterprise Rate. Consequently, the applicable income tax
rate of Joystar Wuxi for the year ended 31 December 2012 is
15% (2011: 15%).

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
profit before tax multiplied by the PRC enterprise income tax
rate is as follows:

12.

FrEBimk#E)

REFBECEMSRE S ErZE
m%ﬁﬁ EMEERRI15% ([SFHRMOER
RN - R-_ZTTAF+-_A=-+=-8 KE
(ﬁiﬁ%)ﬁx [BFEmtEEE] ﬁ?ﬁzﬁﬂﬁ%
=F - RE(EBR)ZTENSHEMEERE
R_ZTE——F+= ﬂ@ﬁ"’l‘*%(ﬁﬁ%)ﬂﬁ"‘
T F+— ARSIt EEE  KE
() FIEFRBR M EERE - B - 15
EEH ) NEE2_T——F+_A=+—8H
IFEZBEBEHREARIS% (ZE——F
15%) °

PS8 S BB FR BT F SR LA R B I 2 T 15
HEAEMSHHENT

2012 2011

—E—_F —E——4F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBTIT

Profit before tax B A5 A1 A 12,295 22,475
Tax at the PRC enterprise income tax rate of BARBETEMEHEE25%

25% (2011: 25%) HE(ZZ——F: 25%) 3,074 5,619
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible AR EI SZ HIF T8 2 182 91
Tax effect of income that are not taxable /,\u%}%uﬂl)\ﬁﬁm‘%a“ (885) (168)
Over provision in previous years BEFEBRBERE (283) (341)
Tax effect of tax preferential period MIBEERNRBE T2 (856) (2,579)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries HiE A B TR EA 2 (53) 341
Tax loss not recognised AERTIEEE 318 661
Income tax expenses FTiS R 1,497 3,624

Under the New Tax Law, from 1 January 2008, non-resident
enterprises without an establishment or place of business in
the PRC or which have an establishment or place of business
in the PRC but whose relevant income is not effectively
connected with the establishment or a place of business in
the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax at the rate of
10% (unless reduced by treaty) on various types of passive
income such as dividends derived from sources within the
PRC.

According to the notice Caishui 2008 No. 1 released by the
Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation,
distributions of the pre-2008 retained profits of a foreign-
invested enterprise to a foreign investor in 2008 or after
are exempt from corporate income tax. Accordingly, the
retained profits as at 31 December 2007 in the Group's PRC
subsidiaries will not be subject to 10% withholding tax on
future distributions.

REFH L A-ZTTN\F—H—H - W3k
fErP BRSSP B R A A 2 - e
B ST S FE B3R A A B B - MR R RS
P FEER AR B A N Bk A R B AR A A b B A R
ZIEERME  BARZEREES KA (URER
B2 B BO)IET R 10% (B IR IEL R %) 8
TR

AR 35 B R K B R 7S 9 2 2 B B 2008 5B
15BN INERECERE ST \F 2%
MINEIREE DR ST\ FRIZREBHF
R R BN EFTISR o IM FHXW
EoRE  AEEZHRBENEA —Z=
+t&F+=-_A=+— Ez%mﬁﬂ%ﬁm@%
10% 2 TEIRFL ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

Br—
12.

13.

——Ft A= HIUFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

According to the EIT law, starting from 1 January 2008,
10% withholding income tax will be imposed on dividend
relating to profits earned by the companies established in
the PRC in the calendar year 2008 onwards to their foreign
shareholders. For investors incorporated in Hong Kong
which hold at least 25% of equity interest of those PRC
companies, a preferential rate of 5% will be applied. The
Group has applied the preferential rate of 5% as the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are directly held by an investment
holding company incorporated in Hong Kong. No deferred
tax has been provided for in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to such profits as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB10,798,000 (2011: RMB18,851,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 532,131,148 (2011:
206,356,164) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

For the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, diluted
earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per
share as the Company did not have any dilutive potential
ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December 2012
and 2011.

13.

. BB )

REBEGEMBHE A-FTFTN\F—-HA—H
B BERETBERINARE T N\FE
F JEE R ) 0 N ST L AR S B R A0 BB B
10% K FBHIFT S 3 - HRERBEMALE
FEZETHERARED25% BENKRES
HEES% MEBHRE - ARANEESENE
REFH-HEEBEMALAREZER AR
BERA  BASEIZS% NEEREHMAH
T o RABWARBLZF &N 2 By Z R M 1EH
LL%RIE%1% .§$E.EJ//{$$ Eunﬁﬂ'%ﬁﬁ
BB MERR ZRRAENENRA R
B

BREF

BRELXEF

AR BBEAEGERERABIHEE
TRBEARRBEABGEEZMNHA
R #10,798,000c(ZFE ——F: AR ¥
msmomnﬁ&imEﬁ§‘\%@%z
¥ 19 A532,131,148 (= —F

206,356,164 )T EISH o

BREERF
HRARRREBEE T —FER-_T——F
+Z A=+ B E R S A EE LR

R WBE-_B-——FR_F——F+_A
=+—RALFE SREIRNEGRALRR
FFER -

FEAEAHKERRAF
—B-CFFH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

P IS SRR M o (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of remuneration of the directors of the Company for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section

14. EEHM

161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

RiE ETRREBERRGDE 161 1FKER
FEARBEEHMOFELT

Salaries
and Retirement benefit
Fees allowances scheme contributions Total
e FERBE RICRRIG IR &t
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
“E--f %% CZB--f -T——% CZB-Zf —T--§ ZE--f —T--F
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT AR¥FR ARBTT AR¥Fn AREBTT AR¥Tn ARETR
Name of director S
Executive director HITEF
Zhuang Yuejin LRk 367 561 144 145 46 41 557 747
Pak Ping ("Mr. Pak”) BY(E%E]) 147 225 - - 7 12 154 237
Wong Hsiao Hung BMI(R=E——4&
(removed on 10 October ~ +ATH%ES)
2011) - 564 - — - 10 - 574
Chen Xianping (resigned  REF (R -ZT——F
on 2 December 2011) TZRZA%T) - 213 - 145 - 41 - 399
Ruan Bixia hEE 98 149 - - - - 98 149
Wong Ho Yin (appointed ~ EAR(A=Z——F
on 30 June 2011) AAZTREZE) 293 151 - - 11 7 304 158
Independent non-executive B HHITEE
director
Law Tze Lun (resigned on T3
9 September 2011) (R=E—4&
MANBET) - 59 - - - - - 59
Tang Yanfei ARIE 49 50 = - — — 49 50
Feng Xueben HEA 49 50 — — — — 49 50
Mak Wai Ho (appointed on  EEZ(R-F——4F
9 September 2011) NANBEZT) 98 31 - - - - 98 31
1,101 2,053 144 290 64 m 1,309 2,454

During the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as a
discretionary bonus or an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 December

2012 and 2011.

During the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, the
executive director of the Company, Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, was
also the chief executive officer of the Company.

HE-_ZT——FR-_FT——F+=-HA=+—H
LEEERN  AEERERTRNESIAMS -
YERREMAAREE S INARE B %A IFTE
KIS iERE) - SiEARERME BE-F——F
F_T——F+_A=+—HIFERN  HE
EEREXRERETMAMENETHE

HE_T——F#rk-_ZF—F+-_A=+—H
IEFE ARG ITESHRELENALRD
R Z TR AEE, -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 15.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included 3 (2011: 4) directors, details of whose remuneration
set out in Note 14 above. The emoluments of the remaining
2 (2011: 1) individuals are set out below:

EARF e KR/
RO IR

Basic salaries and allowances
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

The emoluments fell within the following band:

TEREMEER
TEERAEERNIUESHMALTEE=S
(ZF——F ' HR)EF MEFBHIIRNE
X114 - R TRAREHFMAL(ZT——
F o —RINHMEZIMT

2012 2011
—E——F —ET——F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARBF T
248 166
57 5
305 171
BleNFATEHER :

Number of individuals

ATHE
2012 2011
—E——F —E——F
Nil to RMB815,000 (equivalent to TE AR®815,0007T
approximately HK$1,000,000) (FZ %7 1,000,000 7% 7T) 2 1

During the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the non-directors,
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the non-director and highest paid employees waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended
31 December 2012 and 2011.

16. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 16.

THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The profit for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company included a loss of approximately RMB2,286,000
(2011: RMB3,651,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company.

17. DIVIDEND 17.

The directors do not recommend the payments of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2012
(2011: Nil).

BEZT——Frk_F—F+=A=+—H
EFEEA - REEGRRAFATES - o5
MiEB NS - EREEMAKRERSMNA
AEBEREE - SJHERBBHE #BEZZ
——FRZE——F+ZA=+—RHLEFE
N REERTEEFRES NS EERERR
ERELABME -

RRFER ANEAEFEEF

AR E ABIEEEENBEERAQAHT
ERERBEENEEH AR 2,286,000 (=
T——1F : AR¥3,651,0007T) °

Hﬁ/%\
EETEERAE—_T——F+-_A=1+—81
IEFERMERMRE(ZE——F : &) -

FEAEAHKERRAF
—B-CFFH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. Y% - MERRE

The Group r&E
Furniture
Plant and Motor and Leasehold  Construction
Buildings ~ machinery vehicles fixtures improvement in progress Total
B  HERER RE BRREE AENELE EEIE CH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AR¥TR ARETR ARSTR
Cost HA
At 1 January 2011 “f—%-8-A 9,640 29,678 2317 915 1818 1,350 45718
Additions AE - 1338 135 16 423 15,751 17,663
Transfer from construction in ERIREN
progress 376 16,725 — — - (17.101) —
Disposals HE - (6,881) (69) - - - (6,950)
At 31 December 2011 and R-B-—-%+-f=+-H
1 January 2012 k=5--E-3-H 10,016 40,860 2,383 931 2,241 - 56,431
Additions AE 51 81 - 132 - 2,342 2,606
Transfer from construction in FRIREA
progress — 1479 - — - (1,479) -
Disposals HE - (555 - - - - (555)
At 31 December 2012 RZE-—F+-f=1-H 10,067 41,865 2,383 1,003 2,241 863 58,482
Accumulated depreciation and ZHITERAE
impairment
At 1 January 2011 RZE—%-A-H 1,861 8,917 589 512 1,001 - 12,880
Charge for the year EEXH 327 2,453 289 17 229 - 3,415
Disposals & - (2,062) (55) - - - (2,117)
At 31 December 2011 and R-2-—-%+-f=+-H
1 January 2012 k=5--F-8-H 2,188 9,308 823 629 1,230 - 14,178
Charge for the year EEYH 37 3,484 289 9 21 - 4,479
Disposals HE - (321) - = = - (321)
At 31 December 2012 RZE-—F+-f=1-H 2,525 12,471 1,112 1 1,507 - 18,336
Net book value BEFE
At 31 December 2012 R=E-“#+-B=1-H 1,542 29,39 1,211 34 734 863 40,146
At 31 December 2011 RZF——%+-f=1-H 1828 31,552 1,560 302 1,011 - 42,253

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE
18.

19.

—E——Ff —A=F—HIFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

At 31 December 2012, the carrying amount of buildings of
the Group pledged as security for the Group’s borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB7,542,000 (2011:
RMB7,828,000).

At 31 December 2011, the carrying amount of motor vehicles

held by the Group under finance lease payable amounted to
approximately RMB785,000.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Current assets MENEE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Analysed for reporting purposes as:

At the beginning of the year REA]
Amortisation for the year FEEHE
At the end of the year RFE

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent payment
for land use rights outside Hong Kong under medium term
leases.

At 31 December 2012, the carrying amount of prepaid
land lease payments pledged as security for the Group's
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB2,990,000
(2011: RMB3,063,000).

18. 1% - BERRE#)

W_ZE——F+-"F=+—8 AEFLEHE
HmEHNBANRET7,542,000 (=8 ——4F :
AR¥E7,828,00070) MEFIEAE G RAIK
i o

RZB——F+ZA=+—8 AEEREF
RERMEBETAKAENERENASARR
785,000 7T ©

19. A LHEERIE

The Group
REE
2012 2011
—2-—-F —
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBETTT
73 73
2,917 2,990
2,990 3,063
MBEME 229 -

2012 2011
—2—-F —F—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARETTT
3,063 3,136
(73) (73)
2,990 3,063

AREBWIAN L HERIAE A EBE T HHELY
FEZ7E DA [ B - 3t 58 R R ST (NP 00 -

R-ZE——F+-_A=+—08 KEEZEHE
HELHAEAR2,990,000 (= ——F:
AR # 3,063,000 7T ) Ay B {F L2 FA & B 1E
REBROERD -

FEAEAHKERRAF
—B-CFFH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B S SRR T (47

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. AMBRARZRE

The Company
ARTF
2012 2011
—g-=f - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR¥ETT

Unlisted shares, at costs JE TR - AR 17,872 17,872
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURBT B A T A 37,729 23,492
Amounts due to subsidiaries AREENEIE S — 310
The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest FEW B A RIRIB D AEER - 28 87
free and recoverable/repayable on demand. Welel, AR ESRIEE o

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MR R M =T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2012 were as follows:

20. AMIBARIZRE &)
R-Z——F+=-A=+—0  ABEALXTK
BARMEBHRINNT

Place of Issued and Percentage of
incorporation and paid up equity attributable Principal
Name of Company kind of legal entity capital to the Company activities
MR B R BERITR FAT
DREE FEERER BERK BiEEEESL FEEK
Direct Indirect
HE 4
Joystar (BVI) Automotive British Virgin UsSD1 100% — Investment holding
Interior Decoration Limited Islands (“BVI"), SE IR
limited liability
company
ERARREE 17T
(TREgR
1) HRAA
Joystar (BVI) Auto BVI, limited liability UsD1 100% — Investment holding
Inter-parts Limited company
ERABRAES AR 17T KREER
NS
Joystar International Hong Kong, limited HK$1,170,177 — 100% Trading nonwoven
Investment Limited liability company fabric products used
BEBBRIEEBR AT B8 BRAF 1,170,177 77T in automotive
interior decoration
parts and others
EEARNAEREE R
REHRGMmER
Joystar China Investment Hong Kong, limited HK$ 1 — 100% Trading of rubber
Limited liability company
RERBEKRERERAA B%  BRAR 1787 BEEBRE
Joystar Wuxi PRC, limited liability UsbD7,477,172 — 100% Manufacturing
BE (&) company of nonwoven fabric
HE - BRAT 7477172 E7T products used in
decoration parts and
infrastructure
SUERRN B R R
HEReEomEm
Link Excellent Limited BVI, limited liability UsD50,000 100% — Investment holding
company
ERAEAREE AR 50,0003 7T REER
NG|
Link Sharp International Hong Kong, limited HK$10,000 — 100% Dormant
Limited liability company
EE BRAA 10,0007 7T TEax

FEAEAMHEESRATE 103
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

21. INVENTORIES 21. B&
The Group
rEH
2012 2011
—E——F —E——F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%T ARBEF T
Raw materials A 6,207 6,257
Work in progress TR 1,695 1,195
Finished goods BIRK T 7,653 6,354
15,555 13,806
22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. EWREZFIE
The Group
rEH
2012 2011
—E——F —T——F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%T T AREET T
Trade receivables FEWE 5 5 E 65,297 60,611
Allowance for doubtful debts REREE (619) (502)
64,678 60,109
The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice BBHRAH - BRESHRIBANRER DT
date, and net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows: MR RERBEHE) )T -
The Group
rEH
2012 2011
—E—_—F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%T T ARET T
0 to 90 days 0£90H 53,581 49,203
91 to 180 days 912180 H 7,327 10,733
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 3,770 173
64,678 60,109
104 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. BWESFIE )

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally ranging from 30 to 120
days (2011: ranging from 30 days to 120 days), depending
on the creditworthiness of customers and the existing
relationship with the Group. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest bearing.

At 31 December 2012, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade receivables were denominated in Renminbi and
Hong Kong dollars of approximately RMB58,386,000 and
RMB6,292,000 respectively.

At 31 December 2011, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade receivables were denominated in Renminbi.

At 31 December 2011, approximately RMB7,437,000 of
trade receivables were pledged to a bank to secure short-
term bank loans as set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

At 31 December 2012, trade receivables of approximately
RMB15,678,000 (2011: RMB17,491,000) were past due
but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The aging analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

Overdue by: wHR
1 to 90 days 1Z290H
91 to 180 days 91%180H

During the year ended 31 December 2012, an allowance
was made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of
approximately RMB117,000 (2011: 246,000). The impaired
trade receivables related to customers that were in financial
difficulties and management assessed that the receivables
were not recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

AEBEEFHNESBRAETEREE - REX
FEESNEERASENREBAE  FEH—
MBNAF30E120H(ZZE——F: NF30=
1208) - REBEBMNEEREE AT 2 EKR
18 o mEIRN 2 B aS REEEFHE -
BN E S FIE AR ERIE -

R-TE——F+-F=+—H KEEHE
WESHEZEEREAARE KRBT
& 2 BI# A AR 58,386,000t X AR
6,292,000 7T ©

RZTB——F+A=+—0  FEENEK
B oA ZREETIAAREE

R_ZE——F+_fA=+—8 BEREZFHE
HAR®ET7,437,000(ZE—2F : ARK
6,401,0007T) EMIRITEMERRHRITE
HER AT HERARMEIT) ZER -

MN-ZE——F+-fA=+—0 EKZE5ZE
AR 15,678,000 (=T ——F : AR
17,491,000 70) B BB RAE - ZFHIBHD
METEIRBREENEBLIRTE - AEEDE
W P R X S SRS A TR R -

ZERE ZFHENREOTMT -

2012 2011
—E-—F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBTFTT
15,664 17,482

14 9

15,678 17,491

BHE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—RHItFE 2%
EEF AR E R E S FHIEL ARE 117,000
T(ZZT——F: AR¥246,0007T) L #
& BRERKFEEENTRRENTES
W ERET RS ERKGIET AT -
REEBRGWERZ S ERTE TR -

FEASERNMEERRAT
—E-—FEH

105



106

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MR R M =T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE - —F+-_HA=1—HIFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The aged analysis of the Group’s trade receivables which are
impaired is presented as follows:

22. BEWEZFHEZ)
AEDEHERKE SRENEBRA TMT

2012 2011
—E——fF —ET——%F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%TR ARBFT
Overdue by: BH
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 117 222
Over 365 days HBi@365H 502 280
619 502
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts: RIEREZS
2012 2011
—E——fF —E——F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%TR ARBF T
At 1 January n—HA—H 502 256
Impairment loss recognised on trade WRREKESHIEZ
receivables B8 117 246
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 619 502

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. FA{4:1E - e R HEMEWKFIE

RECEIVABLES

Trade deposits Eo%e

Prepayments TR RIE

Receivables from disposal of property, HEWE  BERZERN
plant and equipment FEYFRIA

Others Eh

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Group

AEE
2012 2011
—2—-F e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AREFTT
9,916 6,959
8,814 1,665
— 5,361
2,454 1,273
21,184 15,258




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
E T E— - A= —HIFFE

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

24.

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Prepayments and deposits

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances related to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

Held-for-trading investments include:

BENREREE

Listed securities:

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong,

at fair value

EHES

23. ANFIE - REREMERNKIEE)

The Company

ARAH

2012
—E——F
RMB’000
AR¥F T

675

2011
—EF——%F
RMB’000
ARETT

82

P EEMEBSRE - DllAREIINE
BB BT AN A R RS sR) E UK TR B R -

24. HFEERE

EEELETHRAES &

AF{EHE

25.

Fair values are determined with reference to quoted market
bid prices.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

At 31 December 2012, cash and bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

Renminbi AR
Hong Kong dollars BIT
United States dollars ETT

RHEEERERE
The Group
rEE

2012 2011

—B-—=fF —E——%

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

4,405 .

RHEDZERBTHEANEMETE -

25. RERBITHER

R-ZE——F+-_A=+—8  BERBETE

ERRIA T BE¥EEHE -
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E——F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBT T
10,527 10,380
64,931 6,006
6,674 1
82,132 16,387

FEAEAHKERRAF
—B-CFFH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)

Renminbi AR
Hong Kong dollars BIT

At 31 December 2012, the bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi amounted to approximately
RMB10,500,000 (2011: RMB10,368,000) were kept in banks
in the PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

26. SHARE CAPITAL

Note
izt
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREE0 BT LER
RZE——F—-HF—H =%
At 1 January 2011, 31 December ——%+-R=+—-H 2%
2011, 1 January 2012 and ——-A-BKkZE—=F
31 December 2012 +-A=t—-H
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREECI AT EBR
At 1 January 2011 RZE——%—HA—H
Issue of shares by way of placing EE R ETR) (a)
At 31 December 2011 and R-E——&+-A=+—H
1 January 2012 RZZ——%-H—H
Issue of shares by way of open offer [ RAFIEE R ETRNH (b)
At 31 December 2012 R=B-Z#+=ZA=+-H
Note:

(a) On 3 November 2011, the Company issued 40,000,000 shares of
HK$0.1 each at the price of HK$0.25 each by way of placing.

(b) On 14 May 2012, the Company raised 120,000,000 offer shares of
HK$0.1 each by way of open offer on the basis of one offer share
for every two existing shares held on the record date.

On 12 September 2012, the Company raised 720,000,000 offer
shares of HK$0.1 each by way of open offer on the basis of two
offer shares for every one existing share held on the record date.

25.

RERBITHERE)
The Company
N
2012 2011
—E-F —EF——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBETIT

2 2
53,122 5,872
53,124 5,874

W-F——#+-A=+-0 KEEHAR
BEHE N 7 AR R B N RTT Z SRITAE R K
RBARM10,500,000 T(ZF——F (AR
10,368,0007T) ° AR IBRINE B 7
B GNP 25 388 1T T 45 B - B TE T RO
HE -

26. B
Number
of shares Amount Amount
RO EE kx &8
HK$'000 RMB’'000
BT AREFT
10,000,000,000 1,000,000 863,495
200,000,000 20,000 17,275
40,000,000 4,000 3,277
240,000,000 24,000 20,552
840,000,000 84,000 68,534
1,080,000,000 108,000 89,086
et -

(@ MRZZE—F+—A=0 AQREBRESKE
f% 0.25 7 7T /) {8 1% 3% 17 40,000,000 i B A E &
0.1 TH AR ©

by RZZFE—-—FAATWEA ARFABHLRAEE
RREGBHEREMRBEROERE —REE
B% () H £ #2115 120,000,000 BX F AR E(E 0.1 78
TSR -

R-ZB——FNA+-H ARAREBARRE
EREHBBERAMRAEROHEL —REE
R 1n #y %% 18 720,000,000 R B R EE0.1 75
TR ERD -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
5ot 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27. BRAESE

The Company adopted the scheme (“Scheme”) on 13
September 2010 which will remain in force for a period of
10 years from the effective date of the Scheme and will
expire on 29 September 2020.

Under the Scheme, the directors may at their discretion grant
options to (i) any employee of any member of the Group
or any entity in which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”); (ii) any executive and
non-executive Directors of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier and customer of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any person
or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued or proposed to be issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; or (vi) any adviser or consultant of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity to subscribe
for the shares of the Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect to which options
may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company on the date of
adopting the Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any
time provided that the new limit must not be in aggregate
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of the shareholders’ approval in general meeting.
However, the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares
in issue from time to time. The limit of the Scheme was
refreshed at a general meeting held on 10 August 2012. At
31 December 2012, the total number of shares available for
issued under the Scheme was 36,000,000 (2011: 20,000,000)
shares, which represented approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company at that day of refreshment.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the shareholders
of the Company has been obtained in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is
payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant
of the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant
as may be determined by the directors. The exercise price is
determined by the directors, and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price per share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of the
grant of the options; (ii) the average closing price per share
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
grant of the options; or (iii) the nominal value of a share.

During the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, no
share option was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and
there is no outstanding share option under the Scheme.

KATRZE—ZTFNA+=BEMEEI([#%
& ZETEBAEMAERETFERAEGHK - M
EmBEEA—T_TEAA-_+HE -

RIBZAE EEARBRATALROBR
1 ARBARTZEMD : () ARBRBRA
SEEAXRERAERENEANEB(RER
DM EmEER ¢ (i) N BT AR 8 AR
REBRNOEARTRIFRTES : (i) A%
IR B EIRE BB EHER LT
Poi(ivyRASBEMKERERMKREBRE
HA RS EMEMIEOALTHER : (V&
SEEMKEREMREEEHRRKCERL
1 A B AIR B AT E BB HITHE
MBEHZFEAAN (i) REBEMK BT
AT $5& B RE HO (F (] A 3K 7 S B A o

RIEZAT IR 2 B T(E R - Al 37T
ZRNEERZTBBAR BN ERZTEE
BZBEETRA10% ° % ER OB 57 5 -
MRS BBRERRREASIES R -
KRB 2 BEITRAZ10% © AM - RIEZ
FFEI R AR R EMETEIE R B EERITE
2R EREREITER AT TR ZRDEE
TEBBTIREEETRN Z30% %3 L
RER-Z—=—FNATARTHREAZ L
EEH HN_ZTE——F+=-_A=+—H 1B
%t & ] BT ) AR 15 48 805 36,000,000 %
(ZZ——4% :20,000,000%) &% - #HE R
AARREFE A EITRAL 10% - RE
A+=—@AHSEA - mERENALREZE
AEEEI TR - O] FEITZRMDARTSHBIE
ZtT AR BHHEE —RAEARB ZEETRG
2 1% BRIERBRAIZER FHRALHBARA
AR L EBIERIGR - MERE 1B TERERN
B IR A o

B X LB R e - BEEREA
HHRAFAEMARRATTE - mMPRHAESRR
E o TREAMRESETE AR TSERUAT
ZEEE ¢ () REBAER B B B T
FRMERTRETE : (i) BRBRER
BB AE X AR EB e R RER
P2 U TIE ¢ k(i) lRipmEfE -

REE-_ZT——FR-_FT——F+=-_A=+—
HIEFE @ SEEAEREDERE - 176
EIHRs AR - B kst 3118 L&A 8 R T{E
2 AR AE -

FEASERNMEERRAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

28. RESERVES

The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein for the current and prior year and presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

28. #iE
rEH

AEBBRMBEFEZRBTELEEDHN
mAEREPHRAZT -

The Company AN
Foreign
currency
Share  Contributed translation ~ Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
R EE HABSR  MERERE 2HER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTT AEBTT ARBTR AEBTT
At 1 January 2011 RZZ——%—-Hf—H 18,565 17,219 (516) (8,715) 26,553
Loss for the year FEBE - - - (3,651) (3,651)
Other comprehensive loss for the FEEMEZARE -
year, net of income tax: Mg FEHE
Exchange differences on translating ~ #EHME 7 [EH =5
foreign currency — — (923) — (923)
Total comprehensive loss FEREBREE
for the year — — (923) (3,651) (4,574)
Placing of shares fegfkin 4915 - — = 4915
Share issue expenses R ETHS (786) = = = (786)
At 31 December 2011 and RZB——E+-A=1+-HR
1 January 2012 —Z--%-f-H 22,694 17,219 (1,439) (12,366) 26,108
Loss for the year FEEE = = = (2,286) (2,286)
Other comprehensive loss for the FEEAMEZARR -
year, net of income tax: Mg FEHE :
Exchange differences on translating ~ #E4NE 7 [EH =5
foreign currency — — (235) — (235)
Total comprehensive loss EEREBRES
for the year — — (235) (2,286) (2,521)
Share issue expenses R ETRS (3,827) = = = (3,827)
At 31 December 2012 R=B-—%+-A=1-H 18,867 17,219 (1,674) (14,652) 19,760
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B S R AR BT o (47

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—_FT——F+_HA=+—HIFEZE

28. RESERVES (Continued) 28. w#EE)
Note: B sE -
Share premium R HE

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share
premium of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of shares at
a price in excess of their par value per share and after deduction of
capitalisation issue and issuance costs of placing of shares.

Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus of the Company represented the difference between
the net assets value of the subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of
the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof pursuant to
the reorganisation during the year ended 31 December 2010.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the Group
reorganisation implemented in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares in 2010 and represented the difference between the
nominal value of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired
under the reorganisation scheme, over the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefore.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC shall appropriate
10% of its annual statutory net profit (after offsetting any prior year’s
losses) to the statutory reserve fund account in accordance with the PRC
Company Law. When the balance of such reserve fund reaches 50%
of the entity’s share capital, any further appropriation is optional. The
statutory reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior year’'s losses or to
increase capital after proper approval.

REFAESHEARE  AARRMEERANESATH
DEFARABBR - EEZZRTBRE BEER - KD
AR NARNR B EEB AT EERBNE -

Bt B iR Ba RO SR EE ERETRO RN
BREAML BT REEBRMNBITRANRELNEE -

BARER
ARBZHABBIEPTIS 2 B A B A E FEERE
HE-ZT-ZF+-_A=+—BEFESEHANEF#T
R 2 AR RIRAEEZ 8 ©

BptRE
AEBZAHRBEEIN S —ZFEFHARTKRMN L
TMATETMEMR - SR BEAFSWENHBARR
REFNEEERN AR BRI BT AERRN R AT
ERMEHE -

IR
INEME R ERRREGIEBUBRRMELNMRE
SNEZRE o ZREBDIRGAMBMERMEIMAIINE
FHERER GG

EERE

REFEARE  ARBRPEKILZHEABEKE
FREFLNENBRBEFEBIRR)L 10% BIEEE
RBESEP - MZHERS 2 EREZERBRAZ50%
AR B ERHEEME— PNk - RESEEHEER
EERHEE A REREBEFEHRNIEE -

FEASERNMEERRAT
—E-—FEH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

P IS SRR M o (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

29. TRADE PAYABLES

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice

dates, is as follows:

0 to 90 days

91 to 180 days
181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

0Z90H
91 %180 H
181 £365H
B3 365 H

Trade payables generally have credit terms ranging from 10
days to 60 days (2011: ranging from 10 days to 60 days).

At 31 December 2012, trade payables are denominated
in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars of approximately

RMB12,410,000 and RMB5,000,000 respectively.

At 31 December 2011, all trade payables were denominated

in Renminbi.

30. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Advance from customers
Accruals of staff costs

Accruals of operating expenses

VAT payables
Others

Accruals of operating expenses

BEPER
FEFH B TRA
FERH R &R
FETIRET
Hith

FEETRRE R

29.

30.

ENEZREA
BBEEZRH  BNESRENERERS TN
T
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E——F —ET——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFT
13,881 8,256
1,677 561
1,604 1,138
248 419
17,410 10,374

[ENESRBENEEH BN TFI108BE60H
—E——F NFI0HEG0H) °

R-T——&+-A=+-8 BHESK
HIAARYS BB THE D0 AARY
12,410,000 7T 2 AR # 5,000,000 7T °

RZB——F+_H=+—H FEENES
R AANREEHE -

FEST B AR B R

The Group
REME
2012 2011
—E——fF —ET——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBTTT
296 609
3,067 3,026
872 594
744 87
418 634
5,397 4,950
The Company
ARF
2012 2011
—®-—f -F——fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
554 350
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

P IS HR AR M o (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—_FT——F+_HA=+—HIFEZE

31. BORROWINGS

31. B

RE
HEIRITER

Current
Short-term bank loans, secured

The maturities of the above borrowings are as follows:

Carrying amount repayable:
On demand or within one year
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities — J& -

Amount due after one year

At 31 December 2012, the short-term bank loans were
secured by charges over the Group’s buildings, prepaid
land lease payments of approximately RMB7,542,000,
RMB2,990,000 respectively and corporate guaranteed by
an independent third party. The weighted average effective
interest rate on the short-term bank loans is 6.40% per
annum.

At 31 December 2011, the short-term bank loans were
secured by charges over the Group’s buildings, prepaid
land lease payments and trade receivables of approximately
RMB7,828,000, RMB3,063,000 and RMB7,437,000
respectively. The weighted average effective interest rate on
the short-term bank loans is 6.49% per annum.

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the carrying amounts of all
the Group’s borrowings are denominated in Renminbi.

FE(ERFIARMEE -
BEREELN—

The Group
KEH
2012 2011
—E-—F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETTT
B 29,500 25,000
FERBEALT ¢

2012 2011
—E--F —E——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETTT
FA 29,500 25,000
(29,500) (25,000)

KRB R ER T ERNHR

R—FREMNEFIEA

%:%*:¢+:HE+*H E%ﬁﬁ%%

F

REERFTNIEN T HE

DHRAR

%7M2m0ﬁ&AE¢n3%pmﬁﬂ%&*
BIYE=ZFHARERERT - RHETE
R MEFHERNEETF6.40E -

%

RZE——F+ZA=+—0 BHERTE

FEASEET BN I#HA
|4 AR # 7,828,000 ~ AR

B

ZHRED R

BB REY

3,063,000 7T X A R # 7,437,000 T fEHK 48 -
HISRITERZ MEFHERF R A5SF6.49

5
I

o

R=ZF —Fk=—"F —FF+-_H=+—H -

Z

SEEE

AR BREESAAREEHE -

FEASERNMEERRAT
—E-—FEH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

P IS SRR M o (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

32. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

Minimum lease

32. BENREHEERE

The Group
AEH
Present value of
minimum lease

payments payments
BEHEENR BREEENRRE
2012 2011 2012 2011

—E-—F —T——F IZE--F =—ZT——%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARBTIT AR¥TRT AR®BTRT

Amounts payable under finance  Fi& T EREN FIA ¢
leases:

Within one year —F A

More than one year and not i —FELREF
more than five years

Less: future finance charges

Present value of lease obligations M &EHIERE

Less: amount due for settlement i - Ji8h & EIE T 5
within 12 months (shown BR12EARNEE
under current liabilities) EOEEE]

Amount due for settlement after R 12 BZEEH
12 months RIE

The Group leased certain of its property, plant and
equipment under finance leases. At 31 December 2011, the
average effective interest rate was 7.6%, with remaining
lease term of 0.83 years. Interest rates are fixed at the
contract dates and all leases are on a fixed repayment basis
and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent
rental payments.

At 31 December 2011, all finance lease payables were
denominated in Renminbi.

The Group’s finance lease payables were secured by the
lessor’s title to the leased assets and personal guarantee
executed by a director and shareholder of the Company, and
a director of Joystar Wuxi.

— 216 — 209
— 216 — 209
— (7) —  NATEA
— 209 — 209

— (209)

AEENBERENSAHBESETYVE - BE
rE#E RZE——F+=ZA=+—H" ¥F
HEBRBENEARETCE  METHESRRA
0.83%F - FIKNFTHBHIKEET  BFEHE
EYBETEEFARTERKARSELET
B o

R-E——F+-_H=+—H  FAENRE
HERBHUAREGHE -

AEENENBEEAERBHUEEEENT
HAEERBEAERBARRBDZEERBRR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

33. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The Group

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

At 1 January 2011

Credit to profit or loss for
the year

At 31 December 2011 and
1 January 2012
Credit to profit or loss for

the year

At 31 December 2012

Note:

W=F——F—F—H

FTAFE B

RZF——F+=A

=+—HEkZZE—=F
—H—H

ATAFE RS
R=%F—=F
t=A=t-~H

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not has unused tax
losses (2011: Nil) available for offset against future profits that may be

carried forward indefinitely.

33. EEHBEEE

&M

AEBRAFERBEFERRBN I ZRETHR

BEER

Amortisation

H %4 QD T

T

of prepaid Decelerated
land lease tax
payments depreciation Total
R R Ny
HEFE  BEBEFE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBF T ARETT ARBT T
35 728 763
— 91 91
35 819 854
— 182 182
35 1,001 1,036

N|ERR > NEBEWEES A BERERN R
M T ERPEEN N ARDARABR( =T ——F
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Bt 75 R R B 5 (4F)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
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34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

35.

36.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases within fall due as follows:

Within one year —F R
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years

R

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for its warehouse, factory and office premises. Leases
are negotiated for a range from 1 to 5 years (2011: 1 to
6 years) and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do
not include contingent rentals. The Group does not have an
option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease
period.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT 35.

The Group's capital commitments at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

Acquisition of prepaid land lease payments WETENHERIE
Contracted but not provided for EREEESEL

Property, plant and equipment W% - BERFE
Contracted but not provided for ERE RS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36.

At 31 December 2012, the Group and the Company did not
have any significant contingent liabilities (2011: Nil).
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34.

F_EENF(BREREEMF)

REHEREEE
RIBEIR - ARE 2 P HHEEHERT
51| 0 0 5 0 ) R R R BB AN T

The Group
rEE

2012 2011
—E-=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFIT
549 484
1,543 1,620
— 304
2,092 2,408

*)\)\
o

HEFEEASERAE  ITREBRAE
MERGNNES HHREANT —E2RF
ZE——F —EXF) mESKRASKRR
BT TEEXAES - AEETENELSE
MR ERESE RS -

BEXRERE
R R - AR B EARELT ¢
The Group
AEE
2012 2011
—e--% —FT—%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBFTT
13,347 13,347
2,750 2,358
16,097 15,705
FREE
RZZE—=F+=A=+—80 AEEREQ

AU EEMEARREE (=T ——F : #) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE
37.

38.

—E——Ff —A=F—HIFE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2012, certain property, plant and equipment
(Note 18) and prepaid land lease payments (Note 19) of the
Group were pledged as collateral for secured bank loans
granted to the Group.

At 31 December 2011, certain property, plant and equipment
(Note 18) and prepaid land lease payments (Note 19) and
trade receivables (Note 22) of the Group were pledged as
collateral for secured bank borrowings and finance lease
payables granted to the Group.

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the Company did not
pledge any assets at the end of the reporting period.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a
monthly maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,250 per
employee and vest fully with employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the
PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required
to contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and wages to the central pension scheme to fund
the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of
all existing and future retired employees of this subsidiary.
The only obligation of this subsidiary with respect to the
central pension scheme is to meet the required contributions
under the scheme.

37.

38.

EEHER

RZEBE-—ZF+=-A=+—08 ZXEEETY
% BB RREB(MT18) RFAMN LIMBER
B(MFE 19 EEAR TAREIRMRITER
Z AR TIRAR o

RZE—F+ZA=+—H8 x5EETY
¥ mERZHBHE18) BN LIMBER
BE(MFE19) REWE S HIB(ME22) EER
By AEEEMRRTERMENBEFTA LR
TR -

W FR-F——F+ZA=1+—8"
AR A EA R E HRIEREFEE

BARBERIFE
AEBBEESRFMABSHEEH AES
FiEEERREER AT ABSEEI([&E
SETE]) - NEBABES I 2 HRTIIRER
EEHERIEZS%:TE  BHREETAH
KEMRAE1,25087C - EEMARESFTEIED
Hkk o BRBEEMAE -

RPBRZz AEENB AR 2 EE RMITH
B EE 2R REAREFTEIKE - ZMEAR
AREEEAFHFERTIEZETADLATR
BARSFTEIHR  (ERERBHZES < 77
BT AR A EZ B R R AR A MR KR
KEE ZRINBREL - ZMBATBRPRR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances as disclosed

elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the g
Group entered into the following material transaction with

related parties during the year.

(a) Transactions with related parties

(b)

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

Salary received by a shareholder

Compensation of key management

personnel

39. EXBELRS

—BhRREkFE

Compensation for key management personnel,
including amount paid to the Company’s directors is as

follows:

Salaries and other short-term benefits

Employer contribution to pension scheme

o REMEHR S
RIS EIREMRR

On 26 June 2012, the Group entered into a non-legally (a)

binding memorandum of understanding (the

“MOU")

with an intention to acquire the patent rights of the

brandname of “Capella”

and technology know-how

in the manufacturing of baby carriages and strollers
("Potential Acquisition”). The Group has resolved that
will not further proceed with the Potential Acquisition
and has resolved to change the proposed use of the
total proceeds from the open offers for future possible

acquisition activities. For details,

please refer to the

Company’s announcement dated on 10 January 2013.
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(a)

(b)

FE P BIHMERA M IRENR S R

FAAEEREBENTANTEAR

HEERZRS
2012 2011
—E—=F —E——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBETTT
— 48
TEEBABZHE
TEERABZME  BRENEALQT
BELBEWT
2012 2011
S e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT
1,245 2,343
64 111
1,309 2,454

40. HEMKRSEE

R-ZEBE——FNA-+"B  KN&EEg
Pk B8 [ Capella] S HE B A BRI LA K

SUERRERER

B 3, 58 52 B A S0 A ok
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-F——F1TA=1—HIUFE

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b)  On 11 March 2013, the Group entered into a joint
venture agreement with Qindgao Qingfeng Nonwoven
Technology Co. Ltd (“Qingdao Qingfeng”) for the
establishment of a joint venture company ("JV
Company”) to engage in the production and sale of
environmental-friendly interior decoration materials and
filtering materials for using in automobiles in the PRC.
The registered capital of the JV will be RMB60,000,000,
in which the Group shall contribute RMB18,000,000,
representing 30% of the registered capital of JV
Company and Qindgao Qingfeng shall contribute
RMB42,000,000, representing 70% of the registered
capital of the JV Company. For details, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated on 11 March
2013.

(c)  The Company has submitted a formal application to
the Stock Exchange on 23 November 2012 for the
proposed transfer of the listing of the shares from
the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange
("GEM") to Main Board of the Stock Exchange (“Main
Board” pursuant to the provisions of the GEM listing
rules and the Main Board listing rules. On 1 March
2013, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange which stated that the listing committee of
the Stock Exchange decided to reject the application
of transfer of listing. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated on 23 November
2012, 1 March 2013 and 5 March 2013.

(d) On 26 March 2013, the Group entered into a sales
and purchase agreement to acquire the entire issued
share capital of Sinogate Energy Limited, a company
incorporate din the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability for a consideration of HK$28 million. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated on 26 March 2013.

41. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2013.

40.

41.

HREMESEEGS)

(b)

RZE—=%=A+—HB AEHEHA
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The following is a summary of the published results and of the IATNAREBER M E/RESEERGR 2D T3
assets and liabilities of the Group prepared on the bases set out in EHEERBERE :
the note below:

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=1+—HLEE
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
—EENFE ZTEAEF T-TF —E—— —E-C-F
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT AR¥BTT ARBTT AR¥TT AR%¥TrR

Revenue LN 66,852 87,363 123,090 156,476 166,906
Gross profit EH 15,632 27,058 29,316 42,006 28,406
Profit before tax P 352 Bl 5,414 14,160 18,480 22,475 12,295
Profit for the year NNEHEE AEL

attributable to owners FER A

of the Company 4,352 12,084 14,497 18,851 10,798
Basic earnings per share  GAREAEF

(RMB cents) (ARED) 2.9 8.1 8.9 9.1 2.0

As at 31 December
R+=—B=+-—-8
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
—ETN\F ZTTAF ZT-TF —T—F =B-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT AREBTT AR®TxR

Non-current assets EMEVEE 28,555 34,558 36,782 46,097 44,099

Current assets MENE = 51,311 65,329 98,862 109,033 196,757

Current liabilities mEaE 60,723 68,155 49,085 42,556 52,862

Net assets FEE 18,951 31,042 86,350 112,574 187,994
120 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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